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Stockmann is a Finnish listed company engaged in the retail trade. Stockmann offers in its 
department stores, in Lindex and Seppälä fashion stores as well as in its online stores fashion 
and accessories for every taste. In 2013 fashion was sold for approximately EUR 1.4 billion, 
and fashion accounted for 68 per cent of the Group’s total revenue.

STOCKMANN  
More than I expected
Offers uniquely extensive and high-quality product 
ranges of international brands as well as excellent 
customer service in a modern and inspiring 
shopping environment.

DePArTmenT STOre DIvISIOn

STOCKMANN  – an international 
retail professional
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LiNDeX - World-class fashion experience
Offers inspiring affordable fashion. The product range 
covers a variety of fashion concepts within women’s 
and children’s wear, lingerie and cosmetics.

SePPÄLÄ - Bold challenger in international 
fashion markets. Offers an extensive selection of 
international fashion for women, men and children.

FASHIOn cHAIn DIvISIOn



STOCKMANN  in 2013
The Stockmann Group’s revenue was EUR 2 037.1 million and operating profit declined to EUR 54.4 
million in 2013. Earnings per share were EUR 0.67. The personnel amounted to 15 441 at the year-end 
2013. Stockmann plc shares are listed on NASDAQ OMX Helsinki. The company has approximately 
60 000 shareholders. The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that a dividend 
of EUR 0.40 per share be paid for 2013.

Key FIgureS
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revenue 2009–2013

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

revenue, eUr mill. 2 037.1 2 116.4 2 005.3 1 821.9 1 698.5

revenue growth, % -3.7 5.5 10.1 7.3 -9.6

Gross margin, % 48.6 49.5 48.7 49.9 48.1

operating profit, eUr mill. 54.4 87.3 70.1 88.8 85.1

net financial costs, eUr mill. 27.6 32.4 34.4 14.6 24.0

profit before taxes, eUr mill. 26.8 54.9 35.7 74.2 61.1

profit for the period, eUr mill. 48.4 53.6 30.8 78.3 53.8

earnings per share, undiluted, 
eUr 0.67 0.74 0.43 1.09 0.81

equity per share, eUr 12.42 12.40 12.11 12.45 11.94

Dividend paid, eUr mill. 28.8* 43.2 35.9 58.3 51.2

Dividend per share, eUr 0.40* 0.60 0.50 0.82 0.72

Cash flow from operating 
activities, eUr mill. 125.4 123.67 66.2 91.8 146.8

Capital expenditure, eUr mill. 56.8 60.3 66.0 165.4 152.8

net gearing, % 87.3 90.9 95.3 87.7 72.2

equity ratio, % 43.8 42.8 42.2 43.1 44.1

number of shares, undiluted, 
weighted average, thousands 72 049 71 945 71 496 71 120 65 676

return on capital employed, % 3.4 5.1 4.1 5.8 5.8

personal, average 14 963 15 603 15 964 15 165 14 656

* Board’s proposal for the Annual General Meeting.

revenue By mArKeT 2013

 48% Finland

 27% Sweden and Norway

 17% Russia

 8% Baltic countries and  
Central Europe

revenue By DIvISIOn 2013

 60% Department Store Division

 40% Fashion Chain Division

revenue By mercHAnDISe 
AreA 2013

 68% Fashion and cosmetics

 15% Food

 8% Leisure

 7% Home

 2% Books, publications, 
stationery

stockmanngroup.com/investors



operations in OveR 20 COUNTRieS
The Stockmann Group has 16 department stores, around 700 fashion stores in 16 
countries and 5 online stores. In addition, the Stockmann Group has six purchasing 
offices in five Asian countries. In 2014 the store network will expand to China, when 
Lindex’s first stores will open in Shanghai in the autumn.

DePArTmenT STOre 
DIvISIOn

1  FiNLAND
•	7 department stores
•	7 academic Bookstores
•	Hobby Hall mail order 

sales and 1 store
•	 11 stockmann Beauty 

stores
2  RUSSiA

•	7 department stores
•	 1 shopping centre
•	 1 outlet store

3  eSTONiA
•	 1 department store

4  LATviA
•	 1 department store

1

5

4

12

15 16

6

7

8

10

13
14

9

2

11

FASHIOn cHAIn 
DIvISIOn

1  FiNLAND
•	58 lindex stores
•	 133 seppälä stores

2  RUSSiA
•	22 lindex stores
•	36 seppälä stores

3  eSTONiA
•	8 lindex stores
•	21 seppälä stores

4  LATviA
•	8 lindex stores
•	 10 seppälä stores

5  SWeDeN
•	211 lindex stores

6  NORWAY
•	99 lindex stores

7  LiTHUANiA
•	9 lindex stores
•	9 seppälä stores

8  POLAND
•	6 lindex stores

9  CZeCH RePUBLiC
•	 19 lindex stores

10  SLOvAKiA
•	4 lindex stores

11  iCeLAND
•	2 lindex franchising stores

12  CROATiA
•	2 lindex franchising stores

13   BOSNiA AND 
HeRZeGOviNA
•	4 lindex franchising stores

14  SeRBiA
•	3 lindex franchising stores

15  SAUDi ARABiA
•	20 lindex franchising 

stores
16  UNiTeD ARAB eMiRATeS

•	4 lindex franchising stores

Status at 31 December 2013

OnlIne STOreS

 STOCKMANN.COM
 AKATeeMiNeN.COM
 HOBBYHALL.Fi
 SePPALA.Fi

•	finland

 LiNDeX.COM
•	eU countries and norway

PurcHASIng OFFIceS

•	Bangladesh, india, China, 
pakistan and turkey
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new top brands were 
added to the DePART-
MeNT STORe SeLeC-
TiONS. Bobbi Brown and 
Kiehl’s cosmetics products 
were among the new 
brands and concepts.

STOCKMANN’S BOARD OF 
DiReCTORS set new 
medium-term financial targets 
for the Group. By the end of 
2016, stockmann aims to 
achieve a return on capital 
employed of 10 per cent, an 
operating profit margin of 
7 per cent, an equity ratio of 
40 per cent and sales growth 
that exceeds the industry 
average.

THe ReNeWAL of the Depart-
ment store Division’s enterprise 
resource planning (erp) sys-
tems proceeded as planned. 
the changes were implemented 
successfully in the spring in the 
Baltic countries and in the 
summer in russia. in finland 
the renewal will be imple-
mented mainly in spring 2014.

During 2013, Stockmann celebrated the 
opening of its new Itis department store and  
the key anniversaries of two department stores 
and the Academic Bookstore. Lindex signed a 
major franchising agreement, and the fashion 
chains’ campaigns were fronted by 
international celebrities.

20
years

THe ACADeMiC BOOK-
STORe 120 YeARS 
the bookstore’s flagship 
store in the centre of 
Helsinki was remodelled in 
honour of its anniversary 
year. in november the 
international Starbucks 
chain opened a café in the 
iconic building.

STOCKMANN SiGNeD  
the Accord on Fire and 
Building Safety in Bangla-
desh. the goal of the agree-
ment is to improve the 
occupational safety of 
textile industry workers.  
the agreement is part of 
stockmann’s long-term 
work to ensure the respon-
sibility of the supply chain.

actress Penélope Cruz 
starred in the advertising 
campaign for lindex’s 
spring and summer fashion 
collections. the campaign 
was made up of three parts: 
Party Perfect, My Favourites 
and Summer Fiesta.

AN eveNTFUL   
year

TALLiNN 
DePARTMeNT 
STORe



THe SePPÄLÄ BRAND 
was revamped and Coco 
Rocha, a Canadian top 
model with plenty of atti-
tude, was the face of the 
autumn fashion campaign. 
seppälä’s first new-concept 
store was opened in the 
forum shopping centre in 
Helsinki.

The brand-new STOCKMANN 
iTiS department store opened 
its doors at the Itis shopping 
centre in Helsinki in november. 
stockmann celebrated the 
grand opening with its 
customers.

10
years

RiGA 
DePARTMeNT 
STORe

LiNDeX eXTeNDeD iTS 
PRODUCT SeLeCTiON 
and launched a range of 
underwear for men called 
LXM, which went  
on sale in october.

lindex continued its battle 
against breast cancer with a 
collection designed by 
British fashion designer 
Matthew Williamson. the 
collection was launched in 
october. 

10%
of the sales proceeds were 
donated to cancer funds.

LiNDeX signed a franchis-
ing agreement to expand its 
operations into China. the 
goal is to open 

100 
stores by 2018.
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the retail sector is undergoing a 
radical change in finland. eco-
nomic growth has stagnated, 
consumers have less purchasing 
power and e-commerce is re-

writing the rules for trading. in 2013, these 
trends created challenges for stockmann’s 
operations in its main market, finland, 
where our department stores have been 
able to provide a solid foundation for profit-
able growth from year to year. the period 
from late summer until Christmas was par-
ticularly disappointing for stockmann. the 
successful Crazy Days campaigns and the 
stockmann online store, which achieved 
good growth in finland, were unable to 
compensate for the disappointing period. 
We must focus on combining the brick and 
mortar department stores and the online 
store into a functioning omnichannel pack-
age to create new growth in our department 
store operations.

TOWARDS NeW GROWTH  
 after a CHallenGinG year

STOCKMANN HAS 
every chance of 
achieving  success  
in the changing 
retail sector

4 CEO’s review



LiNDeX iS  

expanDinG  
anD tHriVinG
lindex, which continued to perform very 
well, provided a ray of light during the year. 
the fashion chain increased its sales in all of 
its markets except finland and 20 stores 
were added to its store network during the 
year. profitability improved in the main 
markets in sweden and norway, and in the 
newer markets. lindex has worked hard to 
create a respected brand, and a store con-
cept, which customers and partners find 
attractive. the company signed an agree-
ment to launch franchising cooperation in 
China in autumn 2014 and is aiming for 
expansion in increasingly international 
fashion markets.

it was a year of major changes for the 
Group’s other fashion chain, seppälä. the 
chain underwent a brand renewal, in which 
its marketing, store concept and collections 
were given a new look. the number of 
stores in its network was reduced in russia 
and finland. operating processes and 
information systems were updated following 
lindex’s example. However, the changes did 
not yet have an impact on the financial 
result, which clearly weakened. the aim is to 
get the turnaround happen in 2014 and after 
that, turn seppälä’s result profitable again.

NevSKY CeNTRe OFFSeTS  

CHallenGes in 
rUssia
the considerable weakening of the russian 
rouble that started in the summer created 
new challenges for business, with our 
department stores suffering the most. the 
exchange rate trend of the rouble weakened 
stockmann’s euro-denominated revenue 
and operating profit.

the nevsky Centre shopping centre in  
st petersburg provides a stable foundation 
for stockmann in russia’s uncertain market 
conditions. after a commercial evaluation in 
spring 2013, the Board of Directors decided  
to continue using the current operation model 
for the time being. the nevsky Centre has 
continued to perform well: customer num-
bers and sales have increased, and many 
attractive new brands have opened stores in 
the shopping centre. the stockmann depart-
ment store in st petersburg has established 
its role as our flagship store in russia.

as a whole, stockmann’s revenue in 2013 
fell by 2.3 per cent, if the terminated fran-
chising operations are excluded. after a 
weak start to the year, we launched an 
extensive cost savings programme which 
helped to significantly reduce operating 
costs already during the second half of the 
year. Despite this, the operating profit fell 
short of the target and declined to eUr 54.4 
million. earnings per share decreased less 
than operating profit as a result of a signifi-
cant tax refund received by lindex. the 
Board of Directors proposes that a dividend 
of eUr 0.40 per share be paid, which is 59.5 
per cent of the earnings per share.

stockmann refinanced its long-term 
credit facilities at the end of 2013. the com-
pany’s financing has now been secured, 
even in tough times, until 2019 with several 
bilateral loan agreements.

STRUCTURAL CHANGeS  

Boost 
effiCienCy
stockmann has every chance of achieving 
success in the changing retail sector, but 
tough measures will also be required to turn 
loss into profit. We will continue to imple-
ment the cost savings programme, which 
was launched in spring 2013, and we will 
focus in particular on structural changes, 
which we hope will boost our operations 
over the long term. in 2014, for example,  

a reform of the Department store Division’s 
operating model in logistics will be initiated. 
personnel reductions will be required in 
order to reduce costs, and this will affect the 
lives of many of our employees. However, 
these changes are vital for ensuring com-
petitive operations in the future. our target is 
to offer our customers an even smoother 
omnichannel service.

a simplified structure, new information 
systems and even more efficient use of 
capital will all support our goal to strengthen 
profitability. We must also set our sights on 
creating growth. stockmann has been 
focusing on its online store business for 
many years, but omnichannel retail still 
offers many opportunities that have not yet 
been explored. our department stores have 
a large number of loyal customers, and 
many of these are yet to discover the pos-
sibilities of our online store. lindex’s suc-
cessful concept has the potential to grow in 
its current and new markets. the general 
economic trend in russia has an important 
impact on stockmann’s business and profit-
ability in russia.

the retail market is not anticipated to 
grow significantly during 2014. the situation 
is challenging, but stockmann forecasts that 
the Group’s operating profit will be some-
what higher than in 2013. in order to achieve 
this target, the strategic projects must be 
successful and sales must be increased 
even in this uncertain operating environ-
ment. 

THANKS TO OUR  

staKeHolDers
2013 was a challenging year, especially for 
our employees, who, in spite of the chal-
lenging market situation, were committed to 
their tasks – i would like to thank you warmly 
for your good, customer-focused work. i 
would also like to thank our loyal customers, 
our shareholders and our partners. We will 
do our utmost to be worthy of your trust also 
in 2014.

Helsinki, 18 february 2014

Hannu penttilä
Ceo
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Stockmann has a firm position in international department store and fashion 
retailing. Throughout its history, the company has been regarded as a leader 
in retailing, and its business is based on customer-focused and profit-oriented 
operations. Stockmann is also a solid and respected Finnish listed company 
with approximately 60 000 shareholders.

international retail   
eXCeLLeNCe

cOre vAlueS PrOFIT- 
OrIenTATIOn

cuSTOmer- 
OrIenTATIOn

eFFIcIency cOmmITmenT reSPecT FOr 
Our PeOPle

PurcHASIng OFFIceS In ASIAgrOuP ADmInISTrATIOncOrPOrATe mAnAgemenT

reSPOnSIBIlITy

OmnIcHAnnel 
cuSTOmer 

exPerIenceS

THe SAvvIer 
SHOPPer

BuSy lIFeSTyleS 
AnD AgIng 

POPulATIOn

mOBIle AnD 
OnlIne SHOPPIng

new PAymenT 
meTHODS

GLOBAL TReNDS AFFeCTiNG ReTAiL TRADe

lOng-Term, PrOFITABle OPerATIOnS

DIvISIOnS

grOuP’S 
SHAreD 
FuncTIOnS

STrATegIc 
FOcuS AreAS 
2013–2016

STrATegIc 
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vISIOn

OmnIcHAnnel 
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essential development trends in stockmann’s operating environment are described also on pages 10–11.
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strong customer loyalty and prof-
itable growth are at the heart of 
stockmann’s strategy. strong 
retail concepts and brands that 
are valued by customers, attrac-

tive loyal customer schemes and excellent 
customer service will form the basis of 
successful operations also in the future. a 
professional and efficient organisation has a 
key role in the realisation of the company’s 
strategic goals.

During the 2013–2016 strategy period, the 
Group’s business will focus on international 
operations and in particular the business in 
russia, the development of omnichannel 
retailing, the renewal of the store network, 
seppälä’s turnaround to restoring profitabi-
lity, and efficient structures and processes 
that support operations. many of the mea-
sures to promote the selected focus areas 
are ongoing and they are progressing 
according to plan. the success of the pro-
jects is of utmost importance and will secure 
the Group’s long-term profitable operations.

FOCUS ON  

rUssia anD 
omniCHannel 
retailinG
the international dimension is a key factor 
in the success of stockmann’s operations. 
the company currently has department 
stores and fashion stores in 16 countries and 
operations in 21 countries. as a conse-
quence of the economic uncertainty in 
finland, the international operations and 
their expansion have an even more decisive 
role to play in stockmann’s profitable 
growth.

stockmann has directed a considerable 
amount of capital expenditure into russia. 
operations in russia will continue to play a 
key role in the strategy in the coming years, 
even though the level of capital expenditure 
is more modest in the current strategy 
period. russia’s slowing economic growth 
causes further uncertainty for the financial 
performance. 

the strategic goal of the fashion Chain 
Division is successful expansion on interna-
tional markets. in the autumn lindex signed 
a major franchising agreement, which will 
help the chain expand into China in 2014. 
lindex’s goal is to be a truly global fashion 
brand, so the opening of stores in other, 
new markets will be investigated during the 
strategy period. seppälä will concentrate on 
the renewal of its brand and improvement 
of profitability.

During recent years, in addition to its 
business in russia, stockmann has also 
been allocating significant resources to the 
online business and its development. 
stockmann’s goal is to achieve operations 
that are clearly based on omnichannel 
retailing, which means that the traditional 
department stores and other stores have a 
well-established position alongside the 
growing online business. stockmann wants 
to offer its customers an omnichannel ser-

vice in which all its business channels are 
seamlessly integrated into the customer 
experience. the Group has five online stores 
in finland: stockmann, Hobby Hall, the 
academic Bookstore, lindex and seppälä. 
in addition, lindex online store operates 
extensively in europe. in the future, online 
stores will broaden their product selections 
and increase their market areas.

in order to implement its customer prom-
ise, which is based on excellent customer 
service, stockmann needs modern and 
efficient systems, processes and support 
functions. During the year, enterprise 
resource planning systems were renewed in 
both divisions with the aim of increasing 
efficiency and the flexibility of operations 
throughout the chain.

ReNeWAL OF  

stores anD 
ConCepts
stockmann is constantly investing in the 
attractiveness of its shopping environments 
and concepts in order to keep its depart-
ment stores and other stores competitive 
and at the cutting edge of the retail sector. 
stockmann’s department store renewals are 
focused in finland; the tampere and tapiola 
department stores will gain more retail 
space in the construction projects for these 
stores, which are due for completion in 2014 
and by estimate 2016, respectively. one 
major renewal was completed in november 
2013 when the stockmann department 
store in itäkeskus moved into completely 
new premises in the itis shopping centre in 

Helsinki. During the current strategy period, 
the Helsinki flagship department store’s 
commercial premises will be developed in 
particular. new, international top brands will 
be introduced to the selections in a shop-
ping environment that is worthy of these 
brands. the ladies’ shoe department will be 
the first department to undergo renewal 
during 2014.

in the fashion Chain Division the seppälä 
brand is being comprehensively developed, 

and this includes marketing, product selec-
tion and the store concept. the size of the 
seppälä store network will be assessed 
more closely in the future: the aim is to close 
over 20 stores in russia in 2014. these 
measures are of vital importance to restore 
seppälä’s profitability during the current 
strategy period. in lindex’s store renewals in 
2014 the lingerie concept will be developed 
in particular. the store network will also 
continue to be extended gradually.

LONG-TeRM,  

profitaBle 
GroWtH
the Group’s revenue and earnings fell short 
of the targets set in 2013, particularly in 
finland as the general market trend in retail 
was exceptionally weak and in russia due to 
the weakened rouble. as a consequence of 
the uncertain outlook, stockmann launched 
a cost savings programme in spring 2013. 
the programme made significant savings in 
2013 and will be used to boost the cost 
structure over the long term.

Due to the altered economic situation, 
the Board of Directors set new medium-
term financial targets for the stockmann 
Group in summer 2013, and the aim is to 
achieve these targets by 2016. profitable 
growth will remain stockmann’s most 
important target.

STOCKMANN’S GOAL is to achieve  
omnichannel retailing operations, where 
traditional department stores and other 
stores have a well-established position 
alongside the growing online business
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Focus areas

•	 omnichannel retailing
•	 operations in russia
•	 store network renewals
•	 seppälä’s turnaround
•	 efficient processes and structures

Goals

•	 long-term, profitable operations
•	 international growth
•	 strong customer loyalty
•	 Competitive concepts and brands
•	 professional and efficient organisation

STRATeGiC GOALS   
anD measUres

Measures iMpleMented in 2013 and currently in proGress

stoCKmann 
GroUp

the Group’s medium-term financial targets announced in summer 2013.

total capital expenditure will remain moderate over the period 2014–2015.

Decision to retain ownership of nevsky Centre shopping centre for the time being made in  
summer 2013.

Cost savings programme for 2013–2014 launched in different parts of the organisation. savings of 
over eUr 10 million were made in 2013 and additional savings of about eUr 7 million will be 
made by summer 2014 with temporary layoffs. structural changes will also be used to boost 
operations over the long term.

Department 
store DiVision

fixed costs declined over eUr 30 million in the Department store Division in 2013. in the 
autumn, planning started for structural changes, which will be implemented in stages. the new 
marketing and real estate management organisations were taken into use from 1 January 2014.  
a project to enhance logistics in finland and the Baltic countries has been initiated.

online stores will be strengthened and expanded into new product areas, markets and channels. 
for example, some cosmetics products in the autumn 2013 Crazy Days campaign were on sale in 
the online store. renewed akateeminen.com online store launched in the summer.

new enterprise resource planning system implemented in the Baltic countries and russia, and in 
the academic Bookstore in finland. the system will be introduced to the other units in finland 
during 2014.

stockmann itis department store moved into completely new premises in november 2013.

project to extend the tampere department store progressed. extension will be completed 
towards end of 2014.

planning of the tapiola department store renovation continued. objective is to open the new 
department store in 2016, but the exact timetable is dependent on the planning and constuction 
work for the whole tapiola area.

renewal of the academic Bookstore’s flagship store in Helsinki city centre is in progress. the 
ground floor store environment was renewed during 2013 and the store’s upper floors will be 
given a new look during 2014.

Zara franchising operations in finland were terminated in march 2013.

outlet stores in finland and in estonia, one stockmann Beauty cosmetics store in finland as well 
as the concept store in st petersburg, russia were closed down.

8 Strategy



 Actual

 Target

 Actual

 Target

 Actual

 Target

OPerATIng PrOFIT, % OF revenue 
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10%

OPeRATiNG PROFiT

7%

eqUiTY RATiO SALeS GROWTH

minimum minimum minimum above the 
industry 
average

of revenue

40%

Financial tarGets 2016
the Board of Directors set during summer 2013 new medium-term financial targets for the stockmann Group and the aim is to reach the 
targets by the end of 2016.

realisation oF the Financial tarGets 2001–2013

fasHion CHain 
DiVision

fashion Chain Division, which was set up in 2012, is focusing on seeking synergies and  
increasing cost-efficiency in the chains.

lindex signed an agreement with a new franchising partner in autumn 2013. new agreement will 
help lindex expand to the new market area in China in september 2014.

During the year lindex opened 20 new stores and closed 10 stores. seppälä opened one new 
store and closed 12 stores. in 2014, the aim is to close over 20 seppälä stores in russia.

the renewal of seppälä’s brand continued. renewal covers the chain’s marketing, collections 
and store concept.

lindex’s flagship store opened on sergelgatan street in stockholm. seppälä’s flagship store in 
the forum shopping centre in Helsinki was renewed according to the new store concept.

During the year, seppälä’s erp and financial systems were renewed to correspond with lindex’s 
systems, and operating processes were also developed.
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The retail sector is undergoing a radical change. The challenging 
economic situation, the changing preferences and behaviour of 
consumers, and new technology solutions all create pressure to adapt 
the way we operate. The importance of good customer service and ease 
of shopping is highlighted in all channels. On these pages, Stockmann’s 
value chain and the major development trends in the operating  
environment are described.

STOCKMANN  
iN A CHANGiNG WORLD 
– all CHannels into Use

In order to ensure good 
working conditions at their 
goods suppliers’ production 
plants, a group of european 
companies set up the 
Business Social compliance 
Initiative (BScI) in 2003 to 
develop and audit the 
production plants.

ReSPONSiBLe CONSUMPTiON iS 
BeCOMiNG MORe iMPORTANT 
Customers are thinking more and more about the origin 
of products and the effects of supply chains on the envi-
ronment and society. Consumer interest in organic 
products and products manufactured from responsible 
materials has been increasing over several years.

1 300
members in the BScI about

By 2015, the russian middle class is expected to make 
up 40 per cent of the population, i.e. approximately

57 million people.*

A GROWiNG MiDDLe CLASS AND  
NeW MARKeTS CReATe GROWTH 
OPPORTUNiTieS
The growth potential offered by the Russian market has 
attracted international retail businesses. Russia is expected to 
become the largest consumer market in Europe within a few 
years. The fast-growing consumer markets in China also offer 
promising prospects for the international fashion business.

OF ITS Own FASHIOn BrAnD 
PrODucTS, THe STOcKmAnn grOuP 
AcquIreS THrOugH ITS PurcHASIng 
OFFIceS ABOuT

•	 stockmann has been a member in the BsCi since 
2005 and the United nations Global Compact since 
2011.

•	 an effective buyer-planner operating model is in 
use in the buying and planning organisations. 

•	 6 own purchasing offices in asia, which supervise 
the origin of products and local working conditions.

•	 15 fashion designers at stockmann, 35 at lindex and 
18 at seppälä are responsible for the design of own 
fashion brand products.

BUYiNG AND PLANNiNG

80%

•	 international expansion is an important part of 
stockmann’s profitable growth strategy.

•	 the large operating area requires well-functioning 
and effective logistics chains.

•	 the modern logistics centre in moscow serves all 
the department stores in russia and increases the 
efficiency of goods flows.

•	 a new logistics centre is being planned for the 
department stores in finland and the Baltic coun-
tries, which will serve the omnichannel retail from 
2016 onwards.

•	 lindex has a logistic centre in partille in sweden 
and an outsourced centre in the Czech republic.

LOGiSTiCS

mIllIOn PrODucT TITleS 
FrOm InTernATIOnAl 
BrAnDS AnD THe 

grOuP’S Own SuPPlIerS

1.7

* Cemeea business group 2013.
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CUSTOMeR ORieNTATiON iS eMPHASiSeD
Customer needs are becoming more specialised as the online busi-
ness grows and social media use becomes more widespread. This 
emphasises the significance of more customer-oriented procedures as 
a competitive tool in retail. The development of the sector is increas-
ingly being steered by consumer needs and the strengthening of 
customer loyalty.

TeCHNOLOGY iS ADAPTiNG PURCHASiNG 
BeHAviOUR AND THe COMPeTiTive 
eNviRONMeNT
The continuously increasing use of information technology is 
significantly changing consumer behaviour and habits. The 
rapid growth of online business has an impact on the sector’s 
competitive environment and the retail structure is under 
pressure to change.

•	 the Group has 16 department stores, approximately 
700 stores and 5 online stores.

•	 Considerable work has been devoted to developing 
the online business in recent years.

•	 new service concepts are being developed for all 
channels: the operations of department stores, stores 
and online stores will be combined into one. 
omnichannel retail means that customers are not 
dependent on a time, place or channel.

•	 the online stores have over 200 000 product titles.*

•	 the department stores and fashion stores have over  
1.7 million product titles.

•	 there were over 104 million purchase events in the 
stores in 2013.

* in addition, millions of books available in the academic Bookstore’s order selection. 

OrDerS vIA THe STOcKmAnn 
grOuP’S OnlIne STOreS In 2013  
In TOTAl Over

STOReS AND ONLiNe STOReS

900 000

•	 stockmann’s operations are based on service that 
exceeds customers’ expectations.

•	 the divisions have 4 loyal customer programmes 
and over 8.7 million loyal customers in total.

•	 By combining the different channels, customers 
can take advantage of their best aspects: stores 
offer shopping experiences and service while online 
stores offer broader product selections as well as 
recommendations and product evaluations by other 
consumers.

•	 many of the about 60 000 shareholders are also 
loyal customers. stockmann has offered loyal 
customer share option schemes since 1999.

OF SAleS AT 
STOcKmAnn 
DePArTmenT 

STOreS Are mADe uP By lOyAl 
cuSTOmerS

CUSTOMeRS

72%

9% *

In 2013 online purchases 
by Finns grew

* the growth in revenue in online 
shopping of goods 1–6 2013, tns 
Gallup 2013. consumers’ confidence in the economy was 

stronger in January 2014 than a year ago but still 
lower than the long-term average.*

* Consumer confidence indicator, January 2014,  
statistics finland.

LeADeR iN FASHiON
In 2013, fashion and cosmetics sales made up 68 
per cent of the Group’s entire revenue. 40 per cent of 
fashion sales were made at Stockmann department 
stores and its online store, and 60 per cent at Lindex 
and Seppälä stores and their online stores.

40% 32%

68%60%
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The diverse Department Store Division offers customers shopping experi-
ences which exceeds their expectations. Professional customer service, 
uniquely extensive and high-quality product ranges, and an inspiring, 
international shopping environment are part of each shopping experience. 
With the help of its growing and developing online business, Stockmann is 
also aiming to be a leader in omnichannel retailing in the future.

the year 2013 was challenging for 
the retail sector, particularly in 
finland, where the performance 
of stockmann’s Department 
store Division followed the 

general market trend. a weakened rouble 
clearly reduced the department stores’ 
euro-denominated revenue. as a whole, the 
revenue fell by 3.1 per cent , if the terminated 
franchising operations are excluded, and 
was eUr 1 232.6 million. During the year, the 
continuing success of the Crazy Days cam-
paign, the new stockmann itis department 
store, which opened in november, positive 
performance of the nevsky Centre shopping 
centre and department store and, above all, 
the strong growth of stockmann’s online 
store in finland were especially gratifying.

the Department store Division has been 
focusing on simplifying and intensifying its 
operations. franchising operations were 
discontinued in russia in 2012 and the Zara 
franchising stores in finland were sold at the 
beginning of 2013. the cost savings pro-
gramme that was launched in the spring 
and temporary layoffs helped to make 
savings of approximately eUr 15 million in 
2013. in spite of the cost reductions, the 
Department store Division’s operating profit 
declined and was eUr 26.0 million.

CHALLeNGiNG  

marKet 
ConDitions
excluding franchising, the Department store 
Division’s revenue in finland declined 3.3 per 
cent to eUr 833.5 million. the uncertain 
market situation had an adverse effect on the 
performance of all the department stores and 
Hobby Hall. the department stores in itis, 
tampere and tapiola also suffered as a result 
of the construction work. However, the 
stockmann online store considerably 
increased its revenue and brought the depart-
ment stores within the reach of customers all 
over finland. the goal is omnichannel retail-
ing, in which stockmann’s brick and mortar 
business functions together seamlessly with 
the online business. several it development 
projects and the restructuring programme that 
was launched during the year all aim to 
achieve this goal. operating profit declined 
noticeably in finland in spite of the major cost 
saving measures. 

in the Baltic countries, the market 
remained relatively stable throughout 2013. 
latvia adopted the euro at the beginning of 
2014. the revenue of stockmann’s depart-
ment stores remained at the same level as 

LeADeR OF 
Department 
store 
BUsiness
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DePArTmenT STOre 
DIvISIOn’S revenue By 
mercHAnDISe AreA 2013

DePArTmenT STOre 
DIvISIOn’S revenue By 
mArKeT 2013

 68% Finland

 24% Russia

 8% Baltic countries

 46% Fashion and cosmetics

 25% Food

 13% Leisure

 12% Home

 4% Books, publications, 
stationery

DePARTMeNT STOReS, 3 online stores and 13 other 
stores on 31 December 2013. average number of person-
nel was 8 469 in 2013 (2012: 9 154).

COUNTRieS  
Department stores in finland, russia, estonia and latvia. 
in finland, the Department store Division also includes 
the online stores of stockmann and the academic Book-
store, the stockmann Beauty cosmetics stores and 
Hobby Hall.

PRODUCT SeLeCTiONS 
fashion, cosmetics, food, sport and leisure, homeware, 
electronics, books and stationery.

16

4

the previous year and was eUr 96.5 million. 
operating profit also remained unchanged. 

in russia the rouble weakened consider-
ably as of summer 2013 and as a conse-
quence, the purchasing power of russian 
consumers decreased. excluding franchis-
ing, euro-denominated revenue declined 
2.9 per cent and was eUr 302.6 million. 
rouble-denominated revenue increased. 
the weakened rouble was partly hedged 
with price increases and close attention was 
paid to stock control in order to maintain the 
gross margin. operating profit also suffered 
as a result of the weakened rouble. the 
best-performing department store was the 
st petersburg unit, which operates in the 
nevsky Centre shopping centre. in three 
years of operation, it has become 
stockmann’s second largest department 
store in terms of sales.

the commercial value of the nevsky 
Centre property was evaluated during spring 
2013. Based on the evaluation, stockmann 
made a strategic decision to retain owner-
ship of the shopping centre for the time 
being. During the year the nevsky Centre’s 
tenant mix was extensively improved and 
new, attractive brands were welcomed to the 
centre. Visitor numbers, the car park utilisa-
tion rate and tenants’ revenues have conti-
nued to perform well, and as a result, the 
shopping centre’s profitability has improved 
further. the rental income is principally tied 
to the euro, which balances out exchange 
rate fluctuations.

SHOPPiNG eXPeRieNCe THAT  

exCeeDs 
expeCtations
in the tougher competition, the factors that 
ensure the success of stockmann’s depart-

ment stores, such as excellent customer 
service and a broad and high-quality prod-
uct selection, are even more important. the 
most successful merchandise areas in 2013 
were accessories, cosmetics and food. the 
electronics business faced the biggest chal-
lenges and this is particularly noticeable in 
Hobby Hall’s operations. the stockmann 
online store selection was extended signifi-
cantly and almost 50 000 product titles are 
now available online. 

During the year, the focus of marketing 
was shifted from printed materials to digital 
channels. Campaigns were targeted above all 
at the 3.3 million loyal customers. During the 
year, new loyal customer benefits were intro-
duced, such as a the stockmann masterCard 
payment method discount. in spite of the 
major campaigns that were carried out and 
the weakening of the rouble exchange  
rate, the gross margin remained at a  
reasonable level and was 40.1 per cent.

NeW, iNSPiRiNG  

sHoppinG 
enVironments
omnichannel retail creates new targets  
for the development of attractive shopping 
environments and the efficiency of the  
retail space. there are several renewal  
projects in progress at department stores  
in finland, and the first of these to be com-
pleted was the new itis department store in 
november. the extension of the tampere 
department store was continued during the 
year and will be completed towards the end 
of 2014. the project to renew the tapiola 
department store is at the planning stage. 

the academic Bookstore celebrated its 
120th anniversary and the ground floor of the 
book store in the Book building, was given a 
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DePArTmenT STOre DIvISIOn’S 
OPerATIng PrOFIT 2009–2013
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THe STOCKMANN.COM ONLiNe STORe, which was 
launched in finland in 2010, is the Department store 
Division’s fastest growing part. During 2013, the number 
of visitors to the online store grew significantly, with the 
highest visitor number during the Crazy Days campaign. million unique visitors

revenue growth

loyal customer purchases online

THe ONLiNe STORe COMPLeTeS the offering and 
services of stockmann’s department stores. the online 
store is continuously being developed, for example with 
expansion into new product areas and brands. online 
purchases grew considerably during 2013.

STOCKMANN BeLieveS iN OMNiCHANNeL 
ReTAiLiNG, where the traditional department stores 
occupy a strong position alongside the growing online 
stores. the department stores’ loyal customers also 
regularly purchase items from the online stores.

MORe AND MORe POPULAR STOCKMANN.COM

ReveNUe eUr mill.

 1 302.7 (2012)

1 232.6
OPeRATiNG PROFiT eUr mill.

 48.0 (2012)

26.0
OPeRATiNG PROFiT %

 3.7 (2012)

2.1
iNveSTMeNTS eUr mill.

 30.4 (2012)

26.9
GROSS MARGiN %

 41.9 (2012) 

40.1
ReTURN ON CAPiTAL  
eMPLOYeD %

 7.3 (2012)

3.8

new look in honour of the anniversary year. 
the renovations were designed to suit the 
atmosphere of alvar aalto’s original design 
and based on the customers’ wishes. the 
academic Bookstore’s goal is also omnichan-
nel operations, and this is evident at the 
renewed store with its instore digital kiosks 
and tablet computers for customer use. 
Helsinki’s first starbucks café was opened on 
the ground floor of the book store. the inte-
rior of the hugely popular café is unique and 
was designed to suit the look of the Book 
building. the renovation work will continue 
on the upper floors of the store during 2014.

MORe  

effiCient 
operations
the planning for the restructuring of the 
entire Department store Division was started 
in autumn 2013. the goal is to enable profit-
able, omnichannel operations and boost the 
cost structure to correspond with the chang-
ing operating environment of the retail sector. 

the restructuring of the marketing organi-
sation was launched at the end of 2013, and 
the target of the implemented changes is to 
achieve annual savings of eUr 4 million and 
a new media visibility that is clearly digital. 
the real estate organisation was centralised 
at the beginning of 2014. in logistics the aim 
is to combine the warehouses in finland 
and the Baltic countries to a highly auto-
mated distribution centre.

the new enterprise resource planning 
system, which was successfully imple-
mented in the Baltic countries and russia 
and the academic Bookstore in 2013, will 
support the changing structure of the com-
pany. the system will be fully implemented 
during 2014. in addition to this system pro-
ject, stockmann will continue to focus on its 
online store and the development of 
omnichannel retailing.
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THe MOST SUCCeSSFUL merchandise 
areas in 2013 were accessories, cosmetics,  
and food.
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Fashion Chain Division

iNTeR- 
NATiONAL 
 sUCCess

16 Fashion Chains



 l index and seppälä have made up 
the common fashion Chain Division 
since 2012. the fashion Chain Divi-
sion’s revenue in 2013 was eUr 
805.2 million, i.e. 1.1 per cent lower 

than the previous year. it was a good year for 
lindex and its revenue increased to eUr 
688.0 million. revenue grew in all markets 
apart from finland: 2.5 per cent in euros and 
3.5 per cent in local currencies. seppälä’s 
revenue was down by 18.1 per cent from the 
previous year and was eUr 117.3 million.

the common division has introduced new 
working practices to both fashion chains 
and synergy benefits have been sought in 
support functions, in particular. in autumn 
2013, seppälä started using the same erp 
and financial systems as lindex. the operat-
ing models used in purchasing and other 
parts of the supply chain were also 
improved at the same time. the goals of 
ongoing development projects are to 
deepen cooperation, intensify operations 
and improve the profitability of especially 
seppälä. 

in 2013 the fashion Chain Division’s 
operating profit decreased to eUr 38.6 
million although lindex’s good performance 

continued. lindex increased its operating 
profit to eUr 52.9 million while seppälä’s 
result was clearly loss-making and was eUr 
–14.4 million. the gross margin remained 
near the previous year’s level in both chains 
and was 61.7 per cent. lindex’s gross margin 
increased, and seppälä’s declined. 

LiNDeX’S  

sUCCessfUl 
ConCept
lindex once again received the prestigious 
award for “fashion chain of the year” at the 
Habit fashion Gala in stockholm. lindex 
was praised especially for its clear concept 
that is directed at a wide range of custom-
ers, which has been successful in sweden 
and other countries. a flagship store with a 
modern nordic design, representing the 
newest store concept, was opened in the 
centre of stockholm on sergelgatan street in 
august.

in 2013 lindex focused specifically on the 
development of women’s wear collections 
and inspiring campaigns, and these meas-
ures produced good results. the sale of 

The Lindex and Seppälä fashion chains offer inspiring, international and 
affordably priced fashion for a wide range of customers in their stores and 
online stores. Lindex has fashion stores in 16 countries and Seppälä in 5 
countries. The product selections in the approximately 700 stores include 
women’s and children’s wear, lingerie, accessories and cosmetics. The 
selections also cover menswear, which was introduced into Lindex’s 
product selection in autumn 2013.

iNTeR- 
NATiONAL 
 sUCCess
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FASHIOn cHAIn 
DIvISIOn’S revenue By 
mercHAnDISe AreA 2013

FASHIOn cHAIn 
DIvISIOn’S revenue By 
mArKeT 2013

 68% Sweden and Norway

 19% Finland

 8% Baltic countries and 
Central Europe

 5% Russia

 61% Ladies’ fashion

 31% Children’s fashion

 2% Men’s fashion

 6% Cosmetics

STOReS
479 lindex stores, 209 seppälä stores and 2 online 
stores on 31 December 2013. average number of person-
nel was: lindex 4 985 and seppälä 1 372, total 6 357 in 
2013 (2012: 6 317).

COUNTRieS
•	 lindex and seppälä stores: finland, russia, estonia, 

latvia and lithuania
•	 lindex stores: sweden, norway, the Czech republic, 

slovakia and poland
•	 lindex’s franchising stores: saudi-arabia, the United 

arab emirates, iceland, Bosnia and Herzegovina, 
serbia and Croatia.

PRODUCT SeLeCTiONS
Women’s wear, children’s wear, menswear, lingerie, 
cosmetics and accessories.

688

16

THe COLLeCTiONS ARe constantly developed to better meet the needs of customers. 
In 2014 Lindex focuses particularly on lingerie and Seppälä on women’s wear.

women’s wear increased the most out of the 
product groups during the year. sales of 
children’s wear also continued to do well. 
next, the focus will shift to lingerie; the 
display in stores and sales assistants’ cus-
tomer service skills and the development of 
their product expertise in lingerie will be 
dealt with in 2014.

lindex has also continued its cooperation 
with popular international fashion designers, 
an example of which is the lindex matthew 
Williamson collection, which was launched 
in the autumn. eUr 1.2 million of the pro-
ceeds of this designer range was donated to 
the fight against breast cancer. 

lindex continuously develops its collec-
tions to better meet the needs of its custom-
ers. therefore, lindex launched its first 
underwear collection for men, called lxm, in 
october. the collection is on sale in the 
online store and it is popular with custom-
ers. in 2014 lindex will extend its collection 
for men to cover a broader selection of 
classic basic clothing. 

SePPÄLÄ’S  

tUrnaroUnD
a comprehensive brand renewal was carried 
out at seppälä during the year; the renewal 
included the marketing strategy, product 
selection and store concept. at the start of 
the project, seppälä’s core target group was 
redefined, and is now more focused on 
women aged 25–35. its marketing cam-

paigns had a more international feel in 2013 
as the campaign figureheads included 
British singer sophie ellis-Bextor and Cana-
dian top model Coco rocha. seppälä’s 
flagship store in the forum shopping centre 
in Helsinki launched the new Urban street 
concept in the autumn. 

in 2014 the goal is to utilise the new con-
cept especially in the store marketing. 
another focus area is to increase the attrac-
tiveness of the collections so that the price/
quality ratio of the products meets customer 
expectations. the Group’s purchasing 
offices will be made use of even more in 
order to ensure delivery reliability and qual-
ity. the goal is to concentrate on developing 
women’s wear as sales declined the most in 
this product group during 2013.

the aim of seppälä’s renewals is to attract 
more visitors to the stores and thereby 
increase sales, which is essential for improv-
ing profitability. reducing the size of the 
store network is another key project aimed 
at making seppälä’s operations profitable 
again. in 2013 the store network was 
reduced by 11 stores. the main part of the 
closed stores were located in russia. eve-
liina melentjeff, who became the new Ceo 
of seppälä on 1 December 2013, is leading 
the turnaround project.

18 Fashion Chain Division



FASHIOn cHAIn DIvISIOn’S 
OPerATIng PrOFIT 2009–2013
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LiNDeX’S AND SePPÄLÄ’S baby 
collections favour organic cotton as raw 
material. The responsible selections are 
extensive in the fashion chains. In 2013, 
almost 13 million products produced from 
responsible materials were offered to the 
customers.

LiNDeX iS SeTTiNG iTS SiGHTS ON CHiNA
NeW OPeNiNGS DURiNG THe 

anniVersary 
year 2014
international expansion and franchising 
hold a key position in lindex’s strategy. 
lindex is seeking growth through the stores 
in its main markets and through franchising 
cooperation whereby stores are opened in 
new markets. in 2013 the number of stores 
increased by ten, of which five were lindex’s 
own stores and five franchising stores. a 
franchising agreement with Chinese com-
pany suning will further increase the rate of 
the fashion chain’s international expansion.

seppälä will continue to renew its brand 
and concentrate on improving the profitabil-
ity of its operations. the store network in 
russia will be reduced considerably: the 
plan is to close down over 20 stores in 
russia in 2014.

this year lindex will be 60 years old and 
the fashion chain will be publicising this in 
an impressive way, especially in the autumn, 
with high-profile campaigns and the open-
ing of its first store in China. the goal is to 
make lindex into a truly global, world-class 
brand. for this reason lindex is surveying 
the potential to expand into other new 
markets, for example by opening stores in 
europe’s largest metropolises of fashion. 
online shopping will also be focused on  
– the lindex.com online store already  
operates in 28 european countries.

FRANCiSiNG OFFeRS lindex the opportunity to 
enter new market areas with low risk and an 
efficient use of capital. lindex had 35 franchising 
stores in 6 countries at the end of 2013. 
 

LiNDeX AND SUNiNG, one of the largest com-
panies in China, signed in september a franchis-
ing agreement on the opening of lindex stores in 
China. the first store will open in shanghai in 
september 2014. 

THe PARTNeRSHiP is a large step forward in 
lindex’s international expansion. the target is to 
open about 100 lindex stores in China’s cities  
by 2018. suning will also arrange the online sale 
of lindex’s products in China. new stores

franchising stores

store opening
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CORPORATe GOveRNANCe 
STATeMeNT  of tHe  
stoCKmann GroUp
In its decision-making and corporate governance, Stockmann complies with the Finnish Limited Liability 
Companies Act, the Finnish Corporate Governance Code, the rules of the company’s Articles of Association, 
the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Guidelines for Insiders, and other applicable legislation and rules. The Corpo-
rate Governance Code can be accessed on the website of the Securities Market Association at cgfinland.fi. 
Stockmann adheres to the Code in full.

this Corporate Governance statement of 
stockmann plc for the 2013 financial year 
has been compiled in accordance with 
recommendation 54 of the finnish Corpo-
rate Governance Code. the statement and 
up-to-date information on the company’s 
corporate governance are also accessible on 
the company’s website, stockmanngroup.
com, under ‘Governance’. the statement 
covers the corporate bodies of the parent 
company stockmann plc, which are respon-
sible for the Group’s administration and 
operations. these corporate bodies are the 
general meeting of shareholders, the Board 
of Directors and the chief executive officer 
(Ceo). it also deals with the election and 
working processes of the Board of Directors, 
the Board Committee’s duties and responsi-
bilities, stockmann’s management organi-
sations, and compensation of the Board 
and senior management. in addition,  
stockmann publishes a remuneration 
statement in accordance with the Code’s 
requirements. the remuneration statement 
is available on the company’s website, 
stockmanngroup.com.

cOrPOrATe gOvernAnce mODel OF STOcKmAnn

Department 
store Division

fashion Chain 
Division

Group’s 
shared 

functions

General meetinG of sHareHolDers

BoarD of DireCtors

appointments and  
Compensation Committee of the Board

Department 
store Divisions 
management 

team

Ceo

manaGement Committee

internal audit

external audit

lindex’s 
manage-

ment  
team

seppälä’s 
manage-

ment  
team
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GeNeRAL MeeTiNG OF 
SHAReHOLDeRS
the highest decision-making body of 
stockmann plc is the General meeting of 
shareholders. the annual General meeting 
approves the company’s annual financial 
statements and decides on the disposal of 
profit on the confirmed balance sheet, the 
election and remuneration of members of 
the Board of Directors and on the release of 
the members of the Board of Directors and 
the Ceo from liability.

the annual General meeting shall be held 
each year before the end of June. the 
annual General meeting for 2013 was held 
on 21 march 2013 in Helsinki. all the mem-
bers elected to the Board of Directors and 
the company’s auditors were present at the 
annual General meeting. there were 827 
shareholders present personally or repre-
sented by proxy at the meeting, represent-
ing 49.28 per cent of the company’s regis-
tered share capital and 64.43 per cent of the 
votes.

stockmann has two series of shares: a 
shares and B shares. each a share entitles 
its holder to ten votes at a General meeting, 
and each B share to one vote. the notice of 
annual General meeting, the documents 
and the proposals for the decisions at the 
annual General meeting are accessible for 
the shareholders at least three weeks prior 
to the meeting at the company’s headquar-
ters and on the company’s website 
stockmanngroup.com.

BOARD OF DiReCTORS
Under stockmann’s articles of association, 
the company’s Board must have at least five 
and no more than nine members. Board 
members are elected for a term of one year, 
starting from the annual general meeting in 
which they are elected and ending at the 
conclusion of the subsequent annual gen-
eral meeting. the articles of association do 
not contain any restrictions on the election 
of Board members. 

the Board of Directors shall elect a chair-
man and vice chairman from amongst its 
members. at the end of 2013, the com-
pany’s Board of Directors was composed of 
eight members elected by the 2013 annual 
General meeting. Chairman Christoffer 
taxell and members eva liljeblom, Kari 
niemistö, per sjödell, Charlotta tallqvist-
Cederberg, Carola teir-lehtinen and Dag 
Wallgren were re-elected to the Board. 
managing Director Kjell sundström was 
elected as a new member. Kaj-Gustaf Bergh 
served as a member of the Board until the 
2013 annual General meeting. 

the members of the Board must have the 
qualifications required for their duties and 
sufficient time to carry them out. the major-
ity of Board members must also be inde-
pendent of the company, and at least two of 
these members must also be independent 
of major shareholders of the company. the 
Board of Directors is considered to have a 
quorum when more than half of its mem-
bers are present. Decisions shall be made 
by majority vote. in the event of a tie, the 
chairman has the casting vote.

  additional information on the 
members of the Board of Directors 
is available on pages 26–27.

Duties of the Board
the duties and responsibilities of the Board 
and its committees are determined by the 
articles of association, the limited liability 
Companies act and other applicable legisla-
tion. the Board of Directors attends to the 
company’s administration and ensures the 
appropriate organisation of its operations. 
the Board must also ensure that supervi-
sion of the company’s accounting and 
financial management is appropriately 
arranged.

the Board of Directors has adopted rules 
of procedure, which are available on the 
company’s website, stockmanngroup.com. 
the rules of procedure define the principles 
governing the Board’s composition and 

method of election, its tasks, decision-mak-
ing procedure and meeting practice as well 
as the principles of evaluating the Board’s 
performance.

it is the Board’s duty to promote the 
interests of the company and all of its share-
holders. in order to carry out its duties, the 
Board:
•	 directs and oversees the company’s 

management
•	 appoints and discharges the company’s 

Chief executive officer
•	 approves the Chief executive officer’s 

service agreement and other benefits
•	 approves the salaries and other benefits 

of the members of the Group 
management Committee

•	 approves the company’s risk 
management principles

•	 assesses and approves the company’s 
long-term strategic and financial 
objectives

•	 approves the business and strategic plans 
and assesses their implementation

•	 approves the annual budget
•	 decides on significant individual 

investments and corporate and property 
acquisitions

•	 decides on the company’s dividend 
distribution policy and makes proposals 
to the annual General meeting 
concerning the dividend to be paid

•	 convenes general meetings of 
shareholders.

in accordance with its rules of procedure, 
the Board conducts an annual self-evalua-
tion of its operations and working practices 
under recommendation 7 of the finnish 
Corporate Governance Code. the results of 
the evaluation are used to develop the 
Board’s working processes.

Board meetings
the Board of Directors convenes in accord-
ance with a pre-confirmed timetable and 
when necessary. the meeting timetable is 
based on the timetable for the company’s 

21STOCKMANN ANNUAL REPORT 2013



financial reporting. in addition, the Board 
convenes amongst others for a strategy 
meeting.

of the company’s active management, 
the following regularly attend the Board 
meetings: the Ceo, the executive Vice presi-
dents, the Director of the fashion Chain 
Division, and the Director of legal affairs, 
who acts as secretary at the meeting. two 
staff representatives who are not members 
of the Board of Directors, currently rolf 
feiring and rita löwenhild, also participate 
in the Board’s meetings. one of these repre-
sentatives is elected by the staff representa-
tives of stockmann’s Group Council and the 
other by the association representing 

stockmann’s senior salaried employees. 
the Board of Directors convened 9 times in 
2013. the rate of attendance was 98.6 per 
cent.

BOARD COMMiTTeeS
the Board has established an appointments 
and Compensation Committee from 
amongst its members. the committee 
attends to the duties defined in recommen-
dations 28–30 of the finnish Corporate 
Governance Code as the duties of an 
appointments committee, and in recom-
mendations 31–33 as the duties of a com-
pensation committee. the Board attends to 
the duties of the audit Committee referred 

to in recommendations 24–27. the Commit-
tee assists the Board by preparing matters 
that belong to the Board’s jurisdiction and 
reports to the Board annually. the Board 
has approved rules of procedure for the 
Committee, defining the Committee’s duties 
and responsibilities. the rules of procedure 
are available for viewing on the company’s 
website, stockmanngroup.com.

the duties of the appointments and Com-
pensation Committee are the preparation of 
appointment and compensation matters 
concerning the Chief executive officer, the 
executive Vice presidents and the other 
members of the Group management Com-
mittee, preparations concerning the election 
and compensation of members of the Board 
of Directors for proposal to the general 
meeting of shareholders. the Committee 
meets as necessary, but at least once a year. 

the Board of Directors appoints the 
members of the Committee and its chair-
man annually. the appointments and Com-
pensation Committee comprises four mem-
bers of the Board of Directors, who are 
independent of the company. in march 2013 
the Board re-elected Christoffer taxell as the 
Committee’s Chairman, and elected mana-
ging Director Kari niemistö, managing 
Director Charlotta tallqvist-Cederberg and 
managing Director Dag Wallgren as its other 
members. the Ceo is also entitled to attend 
the Committee’s meetings.

remunerATIOn OF memBerS OF THe BOArD OF DIrecTOrS In 2013

Fixed annual 
fees*, EUR

Fees paid for 
attendance, 

EUR

Committee 
attendance fees, 

EUR

Remuneration in 
cash in total, 

EUR
Number of 

shares
Share value, 

EUR

Christoffer taxell (Chairman) 76 000 2 500 1 500 80 000 2 637 30 780.00

Kari niemistö (Vice Chairman) 49 000 3 000 2 000 54 000 2 311 26 979.40

eva liljeblom 38 000 2 500 - 40 500 1 090 12 730.00

per sjödell 38 000 2 500 - 40 500 2 116 24 700.00

Kjell sundström** 38 000 2 000 - 40 000 1 302 15 200.00

Charlotta tallqvist-Cederberg 38 000 3 000 2 500 43 500 2 344 27 360.00

Carola teir-lehtinen 38 000 2 500 - 40 500 1 465 17 100.00

Dag Wallgren 38 000 3 000 2 500 43 500 1 302 15 200.00

Kaj-Gustaf Bergh*** - 500 - 500 - -

Board members, total 353 000 21 500 8 500 383 000 14 567 170 049.40
* around 50% of the annual remuneration is paid in company shares. ** elected as a new member of the Board at the annual General meeting 2013.
*** Board member until the annual General meeting 2013.

SHAreS OF THe BOArD OF DIrecTOrS 31 DecemBer 2013*

Series A share Series B share
Christoffer taxell (Chairman) 2 375 17 593

Kari niemistö (Vice Chairman) 3 168 650 1 030 807

eva liljeblom 257 8 821

per sjödell 2 116

Kjell sundström 1 456

Charlotta tallqvist-Cederberg 7 041

Carola teir-lehtinen 10 722

Dag Wallgren 3 989

* including the stockmann plc shares in the personal ownership as well as in the ownership of their related persons.
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in february 2014 the Committee gave the 
Board its proposal for the annual General 
meeting to be held on 18 march 2014. 
according to the proposal ll.m., B.sc. 
(econ.) Kaj-Gustaf Bergh, managing Direc-
tor of föreningen Konstsamfundet r.f. is 
elected as new Board member. the Chair-
man of the Board of Directors Christoffer 
taxell, is no longer available as a Board 
member. it is proposed that all other Board 
members continue to serve on the Board. 
the persons proposed for the Board have 
announced that if they are elected,  
they choose from among its members 
Kaj-Gustaf Bergh as Chairman of the Board 
of Directors. in addition, the Committee 
proposes the following remuneration be 
paid to the Board members: eUr 76 000 to 
the Chairman of the Board, eUr 49 000 to 

SHAreS AnD SHAre OPTIOnS OF THe mAnAgemenT cOmmITTee memBerS 31 DecemBer 2013*

Series A share Series B share 2010A option 2010B option 2010C option
Hannu penttilä (Ceo) 111 15 036 40 000 27 000 27 000

pekka Vähähyyppä 5 813 24 000 16 000 16 000

maisa romanainen 1 500 24 000 16 000 16 000

Göran Bille 15 877 24 000 16 000 16 000

Heini pirttijärvi 2 024 10 000 6 600 6 600

lauri Veijalainen 1 225 18 000 12 000 12 000

Jukka naulapää 12 000 8 000 12 000

* including the stockmann plc shares and share options in the personal ownership as well as in the ownership of their related persons.

the Vice Chairman of the Board and eUr 
38 000 to each Board member. in addition, 
a fee of eUr 500 will be paid for each meet-
ing. about 50 per cent of the annual remu-
neration will be paid in company shares and 
the rest in cash. there are no special condi-
tions concerning ownership of the shares.

the appointments and Compensation 
Committee met 6 times during the 2013 
financial year. the rate of attendance was 
100 per cent.

CHieF eXeCUTive OFFiCeR
the Board of Directors appoints the com-
pany’s Chief executive officer (Ceo). 
Hannu penttilä has been the company’s 
Ceo since 1 march 2001. He has been 
employed by stockmann since 1978. the 
Board of Directors has decided on the terms 

and conditions of his post, which are set 
forth in writing in a Ceo agreement. 
the Ceo is in charge of the company’s 
governance and line operations in accord-
ance with the instructions and regulations 
issued by the Board of Directors. He is also 
responsible for developing general strategic 
and business plans presented to the Board.

OTHeR eXeCUTiveS
Headed by the Ceo, the Group manage-
ment Committee is responsible for directing 
operations and for preparing strategic and 
financial plans. the management Commit-
tee’s main duties are drawing up and imple-
menting the Group’s strategy and the divi-
sions’ strategies, and financial forecasts, 
earnings development and investments.

the Group’s management Committee 
comprises seven members including the 
Ceo, to whom the members of the Com-
mittee report. the Director of legal affairs 
acts as secretary to the management Com-
mittee. maisa romanainen, Director of the 
Department store Division and pekka 
Vähähyyppä, Chief financial officer (Cfo), 
have acted as the company’s executive Vice 
presidents since 6 november 2008. the 
Group’s divisions have their own manage-
ment teams that assist the Directors of their 
respective divisions.

since the beginning of 2013 the manage-
ment Committee has consisted of the fol-
lowing members: Ceo Hannu penttilä, 
executive Vice president, Director of the 
Department store Division maisa 
romanainen, executive Vice president, Cfo 
pekka Vähähyyppä, Director of the fashion 

remunerATIOn OF ceO AnD OTHer grOuP mAnAgemenT cOmmITTee memBerS

eUr 2013 2012

Chief executive Officer
fixed salary 587 520 606 320

incentive pay (for the previous year) 30 960 -

fringe benefits 21 585 20 880

Total 640 065 627 200

Other Management Committee members
fixed salary 1 749 436 1 763 356

incentive pay (for the previous year) 58 344 12 268

fringe benefits 73 570 76 647

Total 1 881 350 1 852 271
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Chain Division, Ceo of lindex Göran Bille, 
Hr Director Heini pirttijärvi, Development 
Director of the Group’s international opera-
tions lauri Veijalainen and Director of legal 
affairs Jukka naulapää. in addition to the 
Ceo, the Board of Directors appoints the 
executive Vice presidents and the other 
members of the Group management Com-
mittee.

the Group management Committee’s 
personal information, main job experience 
and principal positions of trust as well as 
information on the shares and options held 
by the executives and their remuneration 
can be found on pages 23–24 and 28–29.

iNTeRNAL CONTROL AND 
iNTeRNAL AUDiT
internal control is the responsibility of the 
Board of Directors. the function of internal 
control is, among other things, to ensure the 
efficiency and profitability of operations, the 
reliability of information and adherence to 
rules and regulations. internal control is a 
part of day-to-day management and com-
pany administration.

an essential part of internal control is the 
internal audit, which operates as an inde-
pendent unit under the Ceo and reports its 
observations to the Board of Directors. the 
internal audit supports the Group’s manage-
ment in directing operations by inspecting 
and evaluating the efficiency of business 
operations, risk management and internal 
control, and by providing management with 
information and recommendations to 

enhance their efficiency. the internal audit 
also inspects the processes of business 
operations and financial reporting. the 
internal audit’s directive has been approved 
by stockmann’s Board of Directors. the 
operations of the internal audit are guided 
by a risk-focused approach and an empha-
sis on the development of business opera-
tions.

RiSK MANAGeMeNT
the goal of risk management is to secure 
the Group’s earnings development and to 
ensure that the company operates without 
any disturbances by controlling risks in a 
cost efficient and systematic manner in all 
divisions. the Board of Directors has 
approved the company’s risk management 
principles, which concern all of the 
stockmann Group’s divisions and areas of 
business.

stockmann’s Board of Directors and the 
Group management Committee regularly 
evaluate risk factors to which business 
operations are exposed and the sufficiency 
of risk management actions as a part of the 
strategy process. risk management is sup-
ported by internal control systems and 
guidelines. risk management guidelines 
have been drawn up separately for the 
following areas, among others: it and infor-
mation security, finance operations, envi-
ronmental issues, malpractice, security and 
insurance.

stockmann’s business is exposed to 
various risks that may have an adverse effect 

on the company’s operations. the divisions’ 
management committees are responsible 
for making financial and strategic plans in 
their own units; analysing business risks and 
evaluating actions is a part of strategy plan-
ning. Business risks are also analysed out-
side the strategic process, especially in 
connection with significant projects and 
investments, and are reported to the Board 
of Directors as needed.

the Group has a risk management steer-
ing group, whose task it is to support busi-
ness operations in recognising and manag-
ing such risks that may endanger or prevent 
stockmann from achieving its strategic 
goals. the steering group, which comprises 
the company’s Head of internal audit, 
Director of legal affairs and Group Consoli-
dation manager, reports its findings and 
recommendations to the Group’s manage-
ment Committee.

RiSK FACTORS
Business risks comprise all the factors that 
may jeopardise or prevent the achievement 
of the strategic goals of the Group or an 
entity belonging to it. stockmann’s business 
risks are divided into three risk areas:
•	 strategic risks, which refer to risk factors 

that are external to the company. should 
they materialise, they may have a major 
impact on the company’s ability to 
operate and on profitability. such risk 
factors include fundamental and 
unexpected changes in the market trend, 

TermS AnD cOnDITIOnS OF THe ceO AgreemenT

incentive pay systems stockmann’s Ceo is covered by the 2010 Key personnel share options programme. the terms of the 
share option scheme can be found at stockmanngroup.com.

age of retirement the Ceo has a right to retire once he has reached the age of 60. Hannu penttilä’s Ceo term was 
extended in april 2013 under an agreement that will remain valid until further notice.

retirement benefits the Ceo’s pension is determined on the basis of tyel insurance under the employees pensions act 
(tyel), and separate insurance taken by the company. the pension is 60 per cent of the pensionable 
salary, which is determined on the basis of the earnings in 2009–2012 and as an average of the two 
middle years of these. payment of the supplementary pension will begin when the Ceo retires. the 
insurance cost was eUr 87 375 in 2013 (2012: eUr 325 960).

ending the contract and compensation upon 
termination

the Ceo’s post is subject to a period of notice of 6 months applicable to both parties. should the 
company give notice of termination, the Ceo has the right to compensation equivalent to 12 months’ 
fixed salary after the notice period has expired. no additional compensation upon termination will be 
paid after the Ceo has turned 60.

24 Corporate Governance Statement



decreasing purchasing power and the 
country-specific risk pertaining to russia.

•	 operative and accident risks, which refer 
to risks related to the company’s 
functions. should they materialise, they 
may lead to an interruption of business 
operations, inefficiency and 
unprofitability. such risks include 
increasing competition, personnel, 
malpractice, itC and information security 
risks, as well as risks related to the 
information used in decision-making.

•	 financial risks which, should they 
materialise, would adversely affect the 
Group’s profit, balance sheet and liquidity. 
financial risks, including risks arising from 
exchange rate and interest rate 
fluctuations, are managed in accordance 
with the risk policy confirmed by the 
Board of Directors.

in the current situation, factors of uncer-
tainty related to the general economic con-
ditions and, in particular, consumers’ pur-
chasing power and essential exchange 
rates, are estimated to be the primary risks 
that may have an impact on stockmann’s 
operations.

  risks and sources of uncertainty are 
explained in further detail in the 
report by the Board of Directors on 
pages 30–35.

MAiN FeATUReS OF THe iNTeRNAL 
CONTROL AND RiSK MANAGeMeNT 
SYSTeMS PeRTAiNiNG TO THe 
FiNANCiAL RePORTiNG PROCeSS
the company’s Board of Directors is 
responsible for the implementation of inter-
nal control in regard to financial reporting 
and also attends to the duties of the audit 
Committee. the Group’s Chief financial 
officer and the finance and Control Depart-
ment are responsible for the Group’s finan-
cial reporting. Group-level directions are 
complied with in stockmann’s financial 
reporting. the reporting is based on infor-
mation from commercial and administrative 
processes and data produced by the finan-
cial management systems. the Group’s 
finance and Control Department deter-
mines the control measures applied to the 

financial reporting process. these control 
measures include various guidelines, pro-
cess descriptions, reconciliations, and anal-
yses used for ensuring the validity of the 
information used in the reporting and the 
validity of the reporting itself.

the financial reporting results are moni-
tored and any anomalies in relation to fore-
casts or in comparison with the previous 
year’s figures are analysed on a regular 
basis. such analyses are used to detect any 
reporting errors and to produce materially 
accurate information on the company’s 
finances.

the divisions and the Group’s finance 
and Control Department are responsible for 
the effectiveness of internal control within 
their own sphere of responsibility. the 
Group’s finance and Control Department is 
responsible for assessments of the reporting 
processes. the risk management process 
includes assessment of the risks pertaining 
to financial reporting and the related 
manage ment measures are determined as  
a part of the risk management process.

CSR 
Commitment to responsible operations 
forms a core part of stockmann’s values 
and daily ways of working. in its business 
operations, the company strives to exceed 
the minimum requirements stipulated by 
laws, regulations or conventions. stockmann 
is committed to the Un’s Global Compact 
initiative, and in accordance with this pro-
motes human rights, labour rights, environ-
mental protection and anti-corruption 
measures. 

stockmann’s Code of Conduct, which is 
approved by the Board of Directors, defines 
ways of working for all employees and  
management staff without exception. 
stockmann also requires its goods suppliers 
and partners to follow the principles of the 
Code of Conduct.

the stockmann Csr strategy sets the 
targets for the company’s responsibility 
work. Csr issues are reported in the annual 
Csr report and at stockmanngroup.com.

AUDiTORS
the auditors elected by the General meeting 
audit the company’s accounting, financial 

statements and administration. the com-
pany has a minimum of one and a maxi-
mum of three auditors, who have a mini-
mum of one and a maximum of three depu-
ties. the term of the auditors begins from 
the annual General meeting in which they 
were elected, and ends at the end of the 
next annual General meeting. 

the annual General meeting of 2013 
elected as its regular auditors Jari Härmälä, 
authorised public accountant, who has 
served as stockmann’s regular auditor since 
2007, and anders lundin, authorised public 
accountant, a new regular auditor. Both 
auditors represent KpmG, authorised public 
accountants. KpmG oy ab, authorised 
public accountants, was elected as the 
deputy auditor. at the moment KpmG, 
authorised public accountants, acts as 
auditors for all the company’s subsidiaries in 
all countries of operation. in 2013, the fees 
relating to the auditing process amounted to 
eUr 0.8 million and the fees for tax coun-
selling and other services to eUr 0.2 million.

Approved by the Board of Directors of 
Stockmann plc on 12 February 2014.

ADDiTiONAL 
iNFORMATiON  

on the members of the 
Board of Directors, the 
CEO and the members of 
the Group Management 
Committee, and the rules 
of procedure are available 
on the company’s website 
stockmanngroup.com
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BOARD OF  DireCtors

CAROLA TEIR-LEHTINENPER SjöDELLKARI NIEMISTö CHRISTOFFER TAxELLCHARLOTTA TALLQVIST-CEDERBERG

Kari Niemistö
b. 1962
Finnish citizen
M.Sc.(Econ.)

Managing Director, 
Selective Investor Oy Ab
Vice Chairman of the 
Board 2012–, member 
1998–
Member of the Board’s 
Appointments and 
Compensation 
Committee

independent of the  
company and major  
shareholders

Principal positions of trust: 
ars fennica art foundation, 
chairman of the Board 
2004–; raisio plc, member 
of the supervisory Board 
2008–

eva Liljeblom
b. 1958
Finnish citizen
D.Sc.(Econ.)

Rector, Professor, 
Hanken School of  
Economics
Member of the Board 
2000–

independent of the  
company and major  
shareholders

Principal positions of trust:
municipality finance plc, 
member of the Board 
2003–, chairman of the 
Board 2011–; fennia mutual 
insurance Company, 
member of the Board 
2003–; Veikkaus oy, 
member of the Board 
2010–

Per Sjödell
b. 1972
Swedish citizen
M.Sc.(Econ.)

Managing Director, 
Fiskars Sweden AB
Member of the Board 
2012–

independent of the  
company and major  
shareholders 

Principal positions of trust: 
fiskars sweden aB, mem-
ber of the Board 2012–; 
akademibokhandeln aB, 
member of the Board 2013–; 
adlern mindre, chairman of 
the Board 2010–

Kjell Sundström
b. 1960
Finnish citizen
M.Sc.(Econ.)

CEO, the Åbo Akademi 
University Endowment
Member of the Board 
2013–

independent of the  
company and major  
shareholders

Principal positions of trust:
Veritas pension insurance 
Company ltd, chairman of 
the Board 2005–; ab 
yrkeshögskolan vid Åbo 
akademi, member of the 
Board, 2006–; stiftelsen 
academica, stockholm, 
member of the Board 
2005–

Christoffer Taxell
b. 1948
Finnish citizen
LL.M.

Chairman of the Board 
2007–, member 1985–
Chairman of the Board’s 
Appointments and 
Compensation 
Committee

independent of the  
company

Principal positions of trust:
föreningen Konstsamfun-
det r.f., member of the 
Board 1996–, chairman of 
the Board 2004–; rettig 
Group ltd, member of the 
Board 2012–; Bank of Åland 
plc, member of the Board 
2013–
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KjELL SUNDSTRöM DAG wALLGREN EVA LILjEBLOM ROLF FEIRING RITA LöwENHILD

Carola Teir-Lehtinen
b. 1952
Finnish citizen
M.Sc.

Professional Board 
member
Member of the Board 
2004–

independent of the  
company and major  
shareholders

Principal positions of trust:
sweco aB (publ), member 
of the Board 2011–; yliopis-
ton apteekki, member of 
the Board 2013–; arcada 
foundation, vice chairman 
of the Board 2011–; WWf 
finland, member of the 
supervisory Board 2011–; 
the finnish Children and 
youth foundation, member 
of the Committee 2004–

Dag Wallgren
b. 1961
Finnish citizen
M.Sc.(Econ.)

Managing Director, 
Svenska litteratursäll-
skapet i Finland r.f.
Member of the Board 
2011–
Member of the Board’s 
Appointments and 
Compensation 
Committee

independent of the  
company

Principal positions of trust:
aktia Bank plc, member of 
the Board 2003–, chairman 
of the Board 2010–; söder-
ströms & C:o förlags ab, 
member of the Board 
2009–; Veritas pension 
insurance Company ltd, 
member of the supervisory 
Board 2012–

Rolf Feiring
b. 1979
Finnish citizen
B.Sc.(Econ.)

Administrative Manager, 
Department Store  
Division

personnel representative 
on the Board, elected by 
stockmann’s senior sala-
ried employees.

Rita Löwenhild
b. 1952
Finnish citizen 

Chief shop steward, 
Department Store  
Division

personnel representative 
on the Board, elected  
by stockmann’s Group 
Council.

Charlotta Tallqvist-
Cederberg
b. 1962
Finnish citizen
M.Sc.(Econ.)

Managing Director, CTC 
Consulting Oy Ab
Member of the Board 
2010–
Member of the Board’s 
Appointments and 
Compensation 
Committee

independent of the  
company

Principal positions of trust:
Handelsbanken rahastoy-
htiö oy, member of the 
Board 2012–

Personnel representatives
at meetings of the Board of Directors, personnel 
representatives have the right to attend and to speak. 
they are not members of the Board of Directors.

Details of the Board of Directors at 31 December 2013. information on the remuneration and share ownership of the Board is available on page 22 of 
the annual report. More information on the main job experience of the Board of Directors, their principal positions of trust and up-to-date informa-
tion on their ownership is available on the company’s website, stockmanngroup.com.
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MANAGeMeNT  Committee
Pekka vähähyyppä
b. 1960, Finnish citizen 
M.Sc.(Econ.), EMBA
Executive Vice President 2008–, 
CFO 2000–

Joined stockmann in 2000

essential job experience: 
stockmann, Cfo 2000–2008; 
svenska nestlé, Cfo 1997–2000; 
nestlé norden, Head of finance 
and Control 1997–2000; suomen 
nestlé, Cfo 1994–1997; oKo 
Venture Capital, Director 1990–1994

Principal positions of trust: 
lyy-invest oy, member of the Board 
2002–; leinovalu oy, vice chairman 
of the Board 2010–; Hartela Group, 
chairman of the Board 2013–, 
a-lehdet oy, member of the Board 
2013–

Hannu Penttilä
b. 1953, Finnish citizen
LL.M.
CEO 2001–

Joined stockmann in 1978

essential job experience: 
stockmann, executive Vice presi-
dent 1994–2001, Director, Depart-
ment store Division 1992–2001, 
Director, Helsinki department store 
1986–1991, Director, tapiola depart-
ment store 1985–1986, lawyer 
1978–1984

Principal positions of trust: 
nokia tyres plc, member of the 
Board 1999–; Varma mutual pen-
sion insurance Company, member 
of the supervisory Board 2001-; 
east office of finnish industries, 
member of the Board 2008–

Maisa Romanainen
b. 1967, Finnish citizen
M.Sc.(Econ.)
Executive Vice President and 
Director for the Department 
Store Division 2008–

Joined stockmann in 1996

essential job experience:
stockmann, Director, department 
stores in finland and the Baltic 
countries 2008, Director, depart-
ment stores abroad 2005–2007, 
Director, tallinn department store 
2000–2005, Director, smolenskaya 
department store, moscow 1998–
2000, Buying manager 1996–1997; 
Brio, product manager and Buying 
Director 1990–1996

Principal positions of trust: 
the finnish Grocery trade associa-
tion, member of the Board 2008–; 
tuko logistics Cooperative, member 
of the Board 2009–; atria plc, 
member of the Board 2010–; 
finnish-russian Chamber of Com-
merce, member of the Board 2012–

HANNU PENTTILÄMAISA ROMANAINENLAURI VEIjALAINEN
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Heini Pirttijärvi
b. 1966, Finnish citizen
M.Sc.(Econ.)
HR Director 2011–

Joined stockmann in 1993

essential job experience:
stockmann, Hr Director, Depart-
ment store Division 2009–, sales 
Director, Helsinki department store 
2005–2007, Director, tapiola 
department store 2004–2005, 
sales manager, Helsinki department 
store 1996–2003, store manager, 
moscow 1993–1995; soK, commer-
cial field training 1991–1993

Lauri veijalainen
b. 1968, Finnish citizen
B.Sc.
Development Director for the 
Group’s international operations 
2010–

Joined stockmann in 2010

essential job experience: 
ikea russia and Cis, Cfo 2003–
2010; skanska moscow, Cfo and 
administrative Director 1998–2003

Principal positions of trust: 
Veikkaus oy, deputy chairman of 
the Board 2013–; fortrent oy (JV 
Cramo-ramirent), member of the 
Board 2013–

Jukka Naulapää
b. 1966, Finnish citizen
LL.M.
Director, Legal Affairs 2006–

Joined stockmann in 1998

essential job experience: 
stockmann, secretary to the man-
agement Committee 2001–, lawyer 
1998–2006; law firm Hepo-oja & 
lunnas oy, attorney 1991–1998

Göran Bille
b. 1955, Swedish citizen
B.Sc.(Econ.)
Director, Fashion Chain Division 
2012-, CEO, Lindex 2004–

Joined stockmann in 2007

essential job experience: 
H&m rowells, managing director 
2003–2004; H&m, Country man-
ager, sweden 1998–2003, Buying 
manager 1987–1998

Principal positions of trust: 
Gunnebo ab (publ), member of the 
Board 2008–; synsam nordic ab & 
synsam Holding ab, member of the 
Board 2008–

HEINI PIRTTIjÄRVI PEKKA VÄHÄHYYPPÄ GöRAN BILLE jUKKA NAULAPÄÄ

Details of the members of the management Committee at 31 December 2013.  
information on the remuneration and share ownership of the management is 
available on page 23 of the annual report. Up-to-date information on the share 
ownership is available on the company’s website, stockmanngroup.com.
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RepoRt by the  
Board of directors

REVENUE AND EARNINGS
the market environment was weak in 2013, particularly in Finland 
where GDp growth stagnated, consumer confidence weakened and 
purchasing power declined. the Finnish fashion market was down 
by 4.9 per cent in 2013 (tMA index). In Sweden, the operating envi-
ronment improved slightly in the summer and again at the end of 
2013. the fashion market was down by 0.4 per cent for the full year 
(Stilindex). In Russia, GDp growth slowed down and the rouble 
weakened against the euro by over 10 per cent in the second half of 
the year. the retail market in the baltic countries was relatively stable 
in 2013.

the Stockmann Group’s revenue for the financial year was eUR 
2 037.1 million (2012: eUR 2 116.4 million). If the terminated franchis-
ing operations are excluded, revenue declined by 2.3 per cent. If the 
terminated franchising operations are included, revenue declined by 
3.7 per cent. Revenue was down in both divisions, although Lindex’s 
revenue in the Fashion Chain Division improved in most of its mar-
kets except Finland.

Revenue in Finland was eUR 983.2 million (eUR 1 048.2 million). 
excluding the terminated Zara franchising, revenue was down by 4.5 
per cent. Revenue in other countries amounted to eUR 1 053.9 
million (eUR 1 068.2 million). excluding the terminated bestseller 
franchising, revenue outside Finland was up by 0.3 per cent. the 
Norwegian krone and the Russian rouble weakened, whereas the 
Swedish krona was on a par with the previous year. If like-for-like 
exchange rates are used, the Group’s revenue outside Finland, 
excluding franchising, was up by 2.2 per cent. this accounted for 51.7 
per cent (50.5 per cent) of the total revenue. 

there was no other operating income in 2013. In 2012, other oper-
ating income was eUR 0.6 million.

the Group’s gross profit for the financial year was down by eUR 
57.1 million, to eUR 990.1 million (eUR 1 047.2 million). the gross 
margin was 48.6 per cent (49.5 per cent). the gross margin was 
slightly up in the Fashion Chain Division and down in the Depart-
ment Store Division. operating costs were down by 2.8 per cent, or 
by eUR 24.6 million, to eUR 861.4 million (eUR 886.0 million). Costs 
were significantly down in the Department Store Division, due to the 
cost savings programme and the terminated franchising operations, 
but up in the Fashion Chain Division. operating costs accounted for 
42.3 per cent (41.9 per cent) of revenue. Depreciation was eUR 74.4 
million (eUR 74.5 million). 

the consolidated operating profit for the financial year was down 
by eUR 33.0 million, to eUR 54.4 million (eUR 87.3 million). Lindex 
improved its operating profit while the operating result of both the 

Department Store Division and Seppälä was significantly weaker 
than in 2012. operating profit declined particularly in Finland and 
Russia, but was up in the market area Sweden and Norway. 

Lindex received a eUR 26.3 million tax refund, consisting of eUR 
21.8 million in taxes and eUR 3.1 million in interests from the Swedish 
tax authorities and eUR 1.0 million in taxes and eUR 0.4 million in 
interests from the German tax authorities . the tax refund resulted 
from the Swedish and German tax authorities’ earlier decision to 
eliminate the Lindex Group’s double taxation for 1999–2005 tax 
years. the refund was recognised in the income statement in the 
third quarter and in the cash flow statement in the fourth quarter.

Net financial expenses for the financial year were down by eUR 
4.8 million, to eUR 27.6 million (eUR 32.4 million). the decline was 
mainly due to interest income resulting from the Lindex tax refund. 
Non-recurring foreign exchange losses amounted to eUR 1.5 million 
(2012: gains of eUR 0.6 million).

profit before taxes for the financial year was eUR 26.8 million 
(eUR 54.9 million). Income taxes were eUR 6.2 million (eUR 7.0 
million). A credit of eUR 22.8 million was recognised on the Lindex 
tax refund. A decline in deferred tax liability also reduced taxes since 
a lowered corporate tax rate was introduced in Finland as of 1 Janu-
ary 2014. In total, taxes for the year amounted to eUR -21.6 million 
(eUR 1.4 million). profit for the year was eUR 48.4 million (eUR 53.6 
million).

earnings per share for the financial year amounted to eUR 0.67 
(eUR 0.74), and, diluted for share options, to eUR 0.67 (eUR 0.74). 
the tax refund for Lindex, which is included in earnings, was eUR 
0.37 per share. equity per share was eUR 12.42 (eUR 12.40).

REVENUE AND EARNINGS BY DIVISION

Department Store Division
the Department Store Division’s full-year revenue was eUR 1 232.6 
million (eUR 1 302.7 million). If the terminated franchising opera-
tions are excluded, revenue was down by 3.1 per cent.

Revenue in Finland was eUR 833.5 million (eUR 881.2 million) in 
2013. excluding the Zara franchising, revenue was down by 3.3 per 
cent. Revenue declined in all department stores, and particularly in 
the tampere, Itäkeskus, and tapiola department stores, due to 
construction and renovation work. the Stockmann online store 
almost doubled its revenue. this represented nearly 5 per cent of the 
product categories sold online. hobby hall’s revenue declined due 
to the challenging electronics market.

the full financial statements including the notes are available on
the company’s website, stockmanngroup.com.

The Stockmann Group’s revenue amounted to EUR 2 037.1 million (EUR 2 116.4 million). Revenue was down by 
2.3 per cent excluding terminated franchising operations. Operating profit was EUR 54.4 million (EUR 87.3 
million). Profit for the period was EUR 48.4 million (EUR 53.6 million). Earnings per share were EUR 0.67  
(EUR 0.74), which includes a tax refund of EUR 0.37. The Board of Directors will propose to the Annual General 
Meeting that a dividend of EUR 0.40 per share be paid.
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REVENUE

2013 EUR mill. 2012 EUR mill. Change EUR mill. Change %

Department Store Division, Finland 833.5 881.2 -47.7 -5.4

Department Store Division, international operations 399.1 421.5 -22.4 -5.3

department store division, total 1 232.6 1 302.7 -70.1 -5.4

Fashion Chain Division, Finland 150.4 167.3 -16.8 -10.1

Fashion Chain Division, international operations 654.8 646.7 8.1 1.2

fashion chain division, total 805.2 814.0 -8.8 -1.1

Unallocated -0.8 -0.3 -0.5

operations in Finland, total 983.2 1 048.2 -65.0 -6.2

International operations, total 1 053.9 1 068.2 -14.3 -1.3

total 2 037.1 2 116.4 -79.4 -3.7

OpERAtING pROfIt AND REtURN ON cApItAl EmplOYED (ROcE)

2013 EUR mill. 2012 EUR mill. Change EUR mill. 2013 ROCE % 2012 ROCE %

Department Store Division 26.0 48.0 -22.0 3.8 7.3

Fashion Chain Division 38.6 50.0 -11.4 3.7 4.7

Unallocated -10.2 -10.6 0.4

total 54.4 87.3 -32.9 3.4 5.1
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Revenue from international operations was eUR 399.1 million 
(eUR 421.5 million) and accounted for 32.4 per cent (32.4 per cent) 
of the division’s total revenue. excluding the terminated bestseller 
franchising, euro-denominated revenue was down by 2.7 per cent. 
the decline was due to the weakened Russian rouble. If like-for-like 
exchange rates are used, revenue was up by 1.8 per cent and grew 
particularly in St petersburg and ekaterinburg.

Revenue in the baltic countries was down by 2.3 per cent to eUR 
96.5 million (eUR 98.8 million). In Russia, revenue excluding fran-
chising was down by 2.9 per cent to eUR 302.6 million (eUR 311.5 
million, excluding bestseller franchising of eUR 11.2 million). Rouble-
denominated revenue, excluding franchising, was up by 1.9 per cent.

the gross margin for the financial year was 40.1 per cent (41.9 per 
cent). the decline was due to price-driven campaigns in all markets 
and the weakened Russian rouble. operating profit was down by 
eUR 22.0 million, to eUR 26.0 million (eUR 48.0 million). In 2012 the 
bestseller franchising operations recorded an operating result of 
eUR -7.3 million. operating profit was positive in all markets. oper-
ating costs decreased by eUR 31.4 million, mainly due to the cost 
savings programme and the terminated franchising operations, 
which had costs of eUR 17.2 million in 2012. 

Fashion Chain Division
the Fashion Chain Division’s full-year revenue was down by 1.1 per 
cent, to eUR 805.2 million (eUR 814.0 million). Revenue was down 
by 10.1 per cent in Finland, to eUR 150.4 million (eUR 167.3 million), 
and up by 1.2 per cent in international operations, to eUR 654.8 
million (eUR 646.7 million). Revenue outside Finland accounted for 
81.3 per cent (79.5 per cent) of the division’s total revenue. 

Lindex’s full-year revenue totalled eUR 688.0 million (eUR 670.9 
million), an increase of 2.5 per cent compared on the previous year. 
In local currencies, revenue was up by 3.5 per cent, with growth in all 
markets except Finland. Seppälä’s revenue was down by 18.1 per 
cent, to eUR 117.3 million (eUR 143.1 million), with a decline recorded 
in all markets. 

the Fashion Chain Division’s gross margin for 2013 was 61.7 per 
cent (61.5 per cent). Lindex’s gross margin improved to 62.6 per cent 
(62.3 per cent). Seppälä’s gross margin was 56.4 per cent (57.6 per 
cent). the decline was due to price-driven campaigns.

the division’s full-year operating profit was down by eUR 11.4 
million, to eUR 38.6 million (eUR 50.0 million). Lindex continued its 
good performance and recorded an operating profit of eUR 52.9 
million (eUR 51.0 million). Seppälä’s operating result was signifi-
cantly down, to eUR -14.4 million (eUR -1.0 million). the result 
declined in all countries as a result of weak sales, despite lower 
operating costs. 

fINANcING AND cApItAl EmplOYED
Cash and cash equivalents totalled eUR 33.9 million at the close of 
the year, compared with eUR 36.1 million a year earlier. Cash flow 
from operating activities was eUR 125.4 million (eUR 123.7 million) 
for the financial year. the cash flow includes Lindex’s tax refund of 
eUR 26.3 million.

Net working capital excluding cash and cash equivalents 
amounted to eUR 133.9 million at the close of the year, compared 
with eUR 119.5 million a year earlier. Inventories were eUR 285.8 
million (eUR 281.4 million). Compared with the previous year, the 
stock level was up in the Fashion Chain Division and down in the 
Department Store Division.

Current receivables amounted to eUR 120.9 million (116.2 million). 
Non-interest-bearing liabilities amounted to eUR 272.8 million (eUR 
278.1 million). 

Interest-bearing liabilities at the close of the year stood at eUR 
814.8 million (eUR 848.5 million), of which eUR 469.4 million (eUR 
502.9 million) was long-term debt. In addition, the Group had eUR 
393.4 million in undrawn, long-term committed credit facilities. Most 
of the short-term debt has been acquired in the commercial paper 
market. 

Stockmann refinanced its long-term credit facilities in December 
2013 by signing bilateral agreements, totalling eUR 700 million, with 
six banks. the facilities will mature in February 2019. 

the equity ratio at the close of the year was 43.8 per cent (42.8 per 
cent), and net gearing was 87.3 per cent (90.9 per cent). 

the return on capital employed over the past 12 months was 3.4 
per cent (5.1 per cent). the Group’s capital employed decreased by 
eUR 35.5 million and stood at eUR 1 710.2 million (eUR 1 742.5 mil-
lion) at the end of the year.

DIVIDENDS
In accordance with the resolution of the 2013 Annual General Meet-
ing, a dividend of eUR 0.60 per share was paid on the 2012 financial 
year, totalling eUR 43.1 million. 

At the end of the financial year, on 31 December 2013, the funds 
available for profit distribution on the parent company’s balance 
sheet amounted to eUR 394.2 million, of which eUR 15.2 million was 
net profit for the financial year. the board of Directors will propose to 
the Annual General Meeting, to be held on 18 March 2014, that a 
dividend of eUR 0.40 per share be paid on the 2013 financial year. 
the proposed dividend is 59.5 per cent of earnings per share. Under 
this proposal, a total of eUR 28.8 million would be paid in dividends. 
eUR 365.4 million would remain in unrestricted equity.

cOSt SAVINGS pROGRAmmE
In April, Stockmann launched a cost savings programme across the 
organisation. the target was to reduce fixed operating costs in the 
Department Store Division and the Fashion Chain Division by over 
eUR 10 million in 2013. the target was exceeded. Stockmann also 
introduced lay-offs of 12 working days for most of its personnel in 
Finland, aimed at achieving additional savings of approximately eUR 
7 million by summer 2014. eUR 5 million of the targeted savings 
were achieved in 2013.

the Department Store Division is also undergoing structural 
changes in order to improve the long-term cost structure. the 
changes are being implemented in stages, and they were first 
applied in marketing operations in the autumn. the new operating 
model for marketing led to a reduction of 50 jobs in Finland. the 
target is to achieve annual cost savings of approximately eUR 4 
million, to be achieved partially in 2014 and fully in 2015.

planning for structural changes in the Department Store Division’s 
store operations and customer service organisation was also initi-
ated in 2013. A plan to introduce a new distribution centre for 
department stores in Finland and the baltic countries was 
announced in January 2014.

cApItAl ExpENDItURE 
Capital expenditure during the financial year totalled eUR 56.8 
million (eUR 60.3 million), which was lower than depreciation at 
eUR 74.4 million (74.5 million). 

the Department Store Division’s capital expenditure for the finan-
cial year totalled eUR 26.9 million (eUR 30.4 million). In 2013 the 
division invested eUR 10.3 million in a project to introduce a new 
enterprise resource planning (eRp) system. the system was imple-
mented in Russia and the baltic countries, and for the Academic 
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StORE NEtwORK

stockmann Group
Total

31.12.2012
New stores 

in 2013
Closed stores 

in 2013
Total

31.12.2013
department stores* 16 16
Stockmann beauty stores 12 1 11
other stores in Department Store Division  
(hobby hall, outlets) 9 7 2
Lindex stores 469 20 10 479

of which franchising 30 9 4 35
of which own stores 439 11 6 444

seppälä stores 220 1 12 209

* Academic Bookstores are part of the department stores in Finland

 
bookstore in Finland during 2013. other implementations in Finland 
will take place in 2014. 

New premises were opened for the Itis department store in 
Itäkeskus, helsinki in November 2013. the renovation was mostly 
financed by the landlord. 

the enlargement of the tampere department store continued. 
the project is due for completion in late 2014. the outlet stores in 
Vantaa, Finland, and in tallinn, estonia, a concept store in St peters-
burg, Russia and one Stockmann beauty cosmetics store in Finland 
were closed during 2013. Four Zara franchising stores in Finland were 
transferred to Inditex as of 1 March 2013 when the franchising opera-
tions were terminated.

the Fashion Chain Division’s capital expenditure for the financial 
year totalled eUR 24.7 million (eUR 22.0 million). Lindex opened 20 
stores and closed 10 stores in 2013. In total there were 479 Lindex 
stores in 16 countries at the end of the year. 

Seppälä opened one store and closed 12 stores in 2013. In total 
there were 209 Seppälä stores in five countries at the end of 2013. 
part of the capital expenditure was for the implementation of Sep-
pälä’s new eRp and financial systems, which were brought into use 
on 1 october 2013 following Lindex’s example. At the same time, 
Seppälä’s legal structure was changed to correspond to Lindex’s 
legal structure.

the Group’s other capital expenditure totalled eUR 5.4 million 
(eUR 7.9 million). the Group’s financial management systems are 
being gradually replaced in connection with the renewal of the 
Department Store Division’s eRp system. the project will continue in 
2014.

NEw pROJEctS
the capital expenditure for 2014 is estimated to total approximately 
eUR 60 million, which is less than the estimated depreciation of 
approximately eUR 75 million. Most of it will be used for expansion 
and refurbishment of the Lindex store network, department store 
renovations and It system renewals. 

planning for the tapiola department store will continue, with the 
timetable being dependent on espoo City’s planning for the area.

Lindex will continue to expand with a net addition of over 20 
stores in 2014, including franchising stores. the company has 
entered into a franchising partnership with Suning, a large retail and 
real estate company, in order to open a chain of Lindex fashion 
stores in China. the first Lindex store will be opened in Shanghai in 
September 2014. According to the franchising agreement, Suning’s 
target is to establish 100 Lindex stores in China between 2015 and 
2018. Suning will also introduce Lindex products online in China.

Seppälä targets to close down over 20 stores in Russia in 2014. 

ShARES AND ShARE cApItAl
Stockmann has two series of shares. Series A shares each confer 10 
votes, while Series b shares each confer one vote. the shares carry 
an equal right to dividends. the par value is eUR 2.00 per share. 

In February 2013, the board of Directors approved a request of a 
shareholder to convert 31 798 Series A shares to Series b shares in 
accordance with Article 3 in the Articles of Association. the conver-
sion did not affect the total number of shares, but the number of 
votes conferred by the shares was decreased by 286 182. the con-
versions of shares were registered in the trade Register on 1 March 
2013, and the converted shares were listed on the Nasdaq oMX 
helsinki on 4 March 2013.

As of the end of 2013, Stockmann had 30 595 765 Series A shares 
and 41 452 918 Series b shares, or a total of 72 048 683 shares. the 
number of votes conferred by the shares was 347 410 568.

the share capital remained at eUR 144.1 million in 2013. the mar-
ket capitalization at the end of the year was eUR 796.0 million (eUR 
994.6 million). 

At the close of 2013, the price of a Series A share was eUR 11.06, 
compared with eUR 14.08 at the end of 2012, while the preice of a 
the Series b share was eUR 11.04, compared with eUR 13.60 at the 
end of 2012. Share performance was under the oMX helsinki Cap 
and the oMX helsinki indexes in 2013. A total of 0.4 million (0.4 
million) Series A shares and 14.6 million (11.3 million) Series b shares 
were traded during the year. this corresponds to 1.5 per cent (1.4 per 
cent) of the average number of Series A shares and 35.1 per cent 
(27.4 per cent) of the average number of Series b shares.

the company does not hold any of its own shares, and the board 
of Directors has no valid authorisations to purchase shares of the 
company or to issue new shares.

At the end of 2013, Stockmann had 59 475 shareholders, com-
pared with 59 283 a year earlier. Stockmann did not receive any 
flagging announcements arising from changes in major sharehold-
ings during 2013.

pERSONNEl
the Group’s average number of personnel in 2013 was 14 963, which 
is 640 less than in the previous year (15 603 in 2012 and 15 964 in 
2011). the average number of employees, in terms of full-time 
equivalents, decreased by 476 to a total of 11 422 (11 898 in 2012 and 
12 172 in 2011). the decline was partly due to terminated franchising 
operations. 

At the end of 2013, the Group had 15 441 employees (16 041) of 
whom 7033 (7 553) were working in Finland. the number of employ-
ees working outside of Finland was 8 408 (8 488) representing 54 
per cent (53 per cent) of the total. the Department Store Division 
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employed 8 955 people (9 634), Lindex 4 999 (4 856), Seppälä 
1 346 (1 419), while 141 people were employed in the Corporate 
Administration (132). 

the Group’s wages and salaries amounted to eUR 313.1 million in 
2013, compared with eUR 319.4 million in 2012 and eUR 307.7 mil-
lion in 2011. employee benefits expenses totalled eUR 397.8 million 
(eUR 405.1 million) which accounted for 19.5 per cent (19.1 per cent) 
of revenue. 

EVENtS AftER thE REpORtING pERIOD
Stockmann has signed an agreement with SRV on the construction 
of a new distribution centre for Finland and the baltic countries. the 
distribution centre, which will be completed in 2016, will be located 
in tuusula, Finland, and it will be financed and leased by Mutual 
Insurance Company Ilmarinen. 

the new distribution centre will serve Stockmann’s department 
stores and online store more efficiently than before. In addition to 
operational improvements, Stockmann is targeting an annual cost 
saving of approximately eUR 6.5 million, primarily in the form of 
reduced personnel, transportation and real estate expenses. Savings 
are expected to be achieved in full from 2018 onwards.

to achieve highly-automated operations as planned, Stockmann 
will make a significant investment in automation technology. the 
amount of capital expenditure will be confirmed once a decision on 
the automation technology provider is made. the automation of 
operations may lead to a reduction of a maximum of 200 man-
years (Fte) at the warehouses in Finland and a maximum of 50 
man-years (Fte) at the warehouse in Latvia.

RISK fActORS
the Stockmann Group has own business operations in the Nordic 
countries, Russia, the baltic countries and eastern Central europe, 
and franchising operations in several other countries. the general 
economic situation is affecting consumers’ purchasing behaviour 
and purchasing power in all of the Group’s market areas. Rapid and 
unexpected movements in markets may influence the behaviour of 
both the financial markets and consumers. Uncertainties related to 
the general economic situation, and particularly those related to 
consumers’ purchasing power, are considered to be the principal 
risks that may affect Stockmann during 2014.

business risks are greater in Russia than in the Nordic countries or 
the baltic countries, and the operating environment is less stable 
owing to factors such as the undeveloped business culture and the 
country’s infrastructure. the grey economy still plays a considerable 
role and continues to distort competition. Although Russia became 
a member of the World trade organisation (Wto) in 2012, this has 
not brought greater clarity to the competitive environment nor 
reduced import duties. energy prices, and especially oil prices, have 
a significant impact on the growth of the Russian economy and on 
consumer purchasing behaviour.

Fashion accounts for over two thirds of the Group’s revenue. An 
inherent feature of the fashion trade is the short life cycle of products 
and their dependence on trends, the seasonality of sales and the 
susceptibility to abnormal changes in weather conditions. Responsi-
ble management of the supply chain is important for the Group’s 
brands in order to retain customer confidence in Stockmann. the 
Group addresses these factors as part of its day-to-day manage-
ment of operations. With the exclusion of major exceptional situa-
tions, these factors are not expected to have a significant effect on 
the Group’s revenue or earnings.

the Group’s operations are based on flexible logistics and efficient 
flows of goods. Delays and disturbances in the flow of goods and 

information can have a temporary adverse effect on operations. 
every effort is made to manage these operational risks by develop-
ing appropriate back-up systems and alternative ways of operating, 
and by seeking to minimise disturbances to information systems. 
operational risks are also met by taking out insurance cover. opera-
tional risks are not considered to have any significant effect on 
Stockmann’s business activities.

the Group’s revenue, earnings and balance sheet are affected by 
changes in exchange rates between the Group’s reporting currency, 
the euro, and the Swedish krona, the Norwegian krone, the Russian 
rouble, the US dollar and certain other currencies. Currency fluctua-
tions may have a significant effect on the Group’s business opera-
tions. Financial risks, including risks arising from interest rate fluctua-
tions, are managed in accordance with the risk policy confirmed by 
the board of Directors.

OUtlOOK fOR 2014
the european economy is expected to improve slightly in 2014, but 
uncertainty will continue in the retail market, particularly in Finland. 
purchasing power is expected to remain low, which will have a nega-
tive effect on consumer purchasing behaviour. 

the Russian rouble has weakened considerably and economic 
growth in Russia is estimated to stay on a low level. As a conse-
quence, the retail market outlook is expected to weaken. 

the outlook for the affordable fashion market in Sweden is 
expected to improve slightly in 2014. the retail market in the baltic 
countries is expected to remain relatively stable. Low consumer 
confidence may, however, affect consumers’ willingness to make 
purchases in all market areas.

As a consequence of the uncertain outlook, Stockmann launched 
a cost savings programme in spring 2013. the programme will con-
tinue in 2014, focusing on long-term structural changes in order to 
adapt the cost structure to the slow growth and to improve perfor-
mance. 

the Group’s capital expenditure is estimated to be lower than 
depreciation, and to amount to approximately eUR 60 million in 
2014.

At comparable exchange rates, Stockmann expects the Group’s 
revenue to increase slightly in 2014. Revenue growth is expected to 
take place in the second half of the year. operating profit is expected 
to be somewhat higher than in 2013. the first-quarter operating 
result will be negative due to normal seasonal variation.

Corporate Governance Statement
Stockmann plc’s Corporate Governance Statement has been pub-
lished on the company’s website stockmanngroup.com and on the 
pages 20–29 in the Annual Report.

helsinki, Finland, 12 February 2014

StoCKMANN plc
board of Directors
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ShAReS AND share capitaL
the share capital of Stockmann plc is divided into Series A and 
Series b shares. Series A shares carry ten votes and Series b shares 
one vote. the par value of both series of shares is eUR 2.00 and the 
shares of both series entitle their holders to an equal dividend. 

the company’s shares are in the book-entry system and they are 
listed on NASDAQ oMX helsinki. the trading code for the Series A 
share is StCAS and for the Series b share StCbV. the number of 
registered shareholders at 31 December 2013 was 59 475 (59 283 
shareholders at 31 December 2012). 

the company’s market capitalization at 31 December 2013 was 
eUR 796.0 million (eUR 994.6 million at 31 December 2012).

ShARE OptION pROGRAmmES
Stockmann has two option programmes on-going; Loyal Customer 
share option programme 2012 for Loyal Customers and Key 
employee share option programme 2010 for key employees in the 
Stockmann Group. 

lOYAl cUStOmER ShARE OptIONS 2012
the Annual General Meeting held on 15 March 2012 approved the 
board of Directors’ proposal on granting share options to 
Stockmann’s Loyal Customers. In accordance with the resolution of 
the Annual General Meeting, a maximum of 2 500 000 share 
options will be granted without consideration to Stockmann’s Loyal 
Customers whose purchases in companies belonging to the 
Stockmann Group together with purchases originating from parallel 
cards directed to the same account during the time period 1 January 
2012–31 December 2013 amounts to a total of at least eUR 6 000. 

For purchases of at least eUR 6 000, a Loyal Customer will receive 
20 share options without consideration. In addition, for each full 
eUR 500 by which the purchases exceed eUR 6 000, the Loyal 
Customer will receive two additional share options. the share sub-
scription period for the Loyal Customer share options will be 2–31 
May 2014 and 2–31 May 2015.

each share option entitles its holder to subscribe for one of 
Stockmann Series b shares. the subscription price is the volume-
weighted average price of the Series b share on the helsinki 
exchange during the period 1–29 February 2012, or eUR 16.36. the 
subscription price of each share subscribed for based on the share 
options will be decreased on the record date for each dividend 
payout by the amount of dividends decided after the commence-
ment of the determination period for the subscription price and prior 
to the share subscription. the subscription price after the dividend 
payout proposed by the board of Directors for the 2013 financial 
year is eUR 14.86 per share. 

KEY EmplOYEE ShARE OptIONS 2010
the Annual General Meeting held on 16 March 2010 approved the 
board of Directors’ proposal on granting share options to key 
employees of the Stockmann Group. In accordance with the resolu-
tion of the Annual General Meeting, a total of 1 500 000 share 
options can be granted to the key employees of Stockmann and its 
subsidiaries. of the share options 500 000 will be marked with the 
identifier 2010A, 500 000 with the identifier 2010b, and 500 000 
with the identifier 2010C. the share subscription period for the share 
options 2010A will be 1 March 2013–31 March 2015, for share options 

pRIcE tREND Of SERIES A AND SERIES B ShARES cOmpARED  
wIth Omx hElSINKI cAp INDEx 2009–2013
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2010b 1 March 2014–31 March 2016 and for share options 2010C 1 
March 2015–31 March 2017. 

each share option entitles its holder to subscribe for one 
Stockmann Series b share. the share subscription price relating to 
the share options 2010A shall be the trade volume weighted average 
price of the company’s Series b shares on the helsinki exchange 
during the period 1–28 February 2010 increased by 20 per cent or 
eUR 26.41, the share options 2010b the trade volume weighted 
average price of the company’s Series b shares on the helsinki 
exchange during the period 1–28 February 2011 increased by 10 per 
cent or eUR 25.72, and the share options 2010C the trade volume 
weighted average price of the company’s Series b shares on the 
helsinki exchange during the period 1–29 February 2012 increased 
by 10 per cent or eUR 18.00. the subscription price of each share 
subscribed for based on the share options will be decreased on the 
record date for each dividend payout by the amount of dividends 
decided after the commencement of the determination period for 
the subscription price and prior to the share subscription. the sub-
scription prices after the dividend payout proposed by the board of 
Directors for the 2013 financial year is eUR 23.37 per share for to the 
share options 2010A, eUR 23.40 per share for to the share options 
2010b and eUR 16.50 per share for the share option 2010C.

OwN ShARES
At 31 December 2013, the company did not hold any of its own 
shares, and the board of Directors had no valid authorisations to 
purchase shares of the company. 

pRIcE tREND Of ShARES 

Closing prices
Dec. 31, 2013

EUR

Closing prices
Dec. 31, 2012

EUR
Change 

%

Series A 11.06 14.08 -21.4

Series b 11.04 13.60 -18.8

tURNOVER Of ShARES AND OptIONS 2013  
ON thE hElSINKI StOcK ExchANGE

Number
of shares

% of total shares 
outstanding EUR

Average 
price
EUR

Series A 446 890 1.5 5 592 287 12.51

Series b 14 564 311 35.1 183 017 894 12.50

option 2010A 21 000 1 530 0.07

total 15 032 201 188 611 711

ShARE cApItAl, 31 DEcEmBER 2013

Series A 30 595 765 shares at EUR 2 each 61 191 530 EUR

Series b 41 452 918 shares at EUR 2 each 82 905 836 EUR

total 72 048 683 144 097 366 EUR

chANGES IN thE ShARE cApItAl AS fROm 1 JANUARY 2009

Entered in 
the Trade 

Register

Subscription
price
EUR

Number of
new shares

Additional 
share capital
EUR million

New total
share capital
EUR million

2009 Directed Issue 2009 17.00 2 433 537 A 4.9 128.2

2009 Directed Issue 2009 17.00 3 215 293 B 6.4 134.7

2009 Rights offering 2009 12.00 1 611 977 A 3.2 137.9

2009 Rights offering 2009 12.00 2 129 810 B 4.3 142.1

2010 With the 2006 Loyal Customer options 2010 27.93 52 047 B 0.1 142.3

2011 With the 2008 Loyal Customer options 2011 8.79 694 829 B 1.4 143.7

2012 With the 2008 Loyal Customer options 2012 8.29 207 854 B 0.4 144.1



38 Shares and share capital

cOmING SUBScRIptIONS wIth ShARE OptIONS*

Subscription period

Subscription
price,

EUR **

Number of
new B-shares,

thousands Holding %
Proportion of 

votes %

2013–2015 With the 2010A Key employee options 1 March 2013–31 March 2015 23.37 418

2014–2016 With the 2010B Key employee options 1 March 2014–31 March 2016 23.40 315.4

2015–2017 With the 2010C Key employee options 1 March 2015–31 March 2017 16.50 330 1.4 0.3

2014- With the 2012 Loyal Customer options 2 May 2014–31 May 2014

2015 2 May 2015–31 May 2015 14.86 2 500 3.3 0.7

* If all options are exercised
** Subscription price after 2013 dividend payout proposed by the Board of Directors

OwNERShIp StRUctURE, 31 DEcEmBER 2013

Number Shareholders %
Percentage of shares 

%
Percentage of votes 

%

households 57 587 96.8 23.6 17.0

private and public corporations 1 149 1.9 24.7 25.1

Foundations and associations 490 0.8 41.6 55.4

Nominee registrations (incl. foreign shareholders) 202 0.4 7.1 1.9

Financial and insurance companies 47 0.1 3.0 0.6

Unregistered shares 0.0 0.0 0.0

total 59 475 100.0 100.0 100.0

NUmBER Of ShARES, 31 DEcEmBER 2013

Number Shareholders %
Percentage of shares 

%
Percentage of votes 

%

1–100 37 526 63.1 2.0 0.7

101–1 000 18 234 30.6 8.6 5.3

1 001–10 000 3 438 5.8 11.5 6.5

10 001–100 000 233 0.4 8.2 4.0

100 001–1 000 000 32 0.1 17.4 19.0

1 000 001– 12 0.0 52.3 64.5

total 59 475 100.0 100.0 100.0
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mAJOR ShAREhOlDERS, 31 DEcEmBER 2013

Percentage of shares 
%

Percentage of votes 
%

1 htt StC holding oy Ab 11.7 10.7

2 Föreningen Konstsamfundet Grouping 9.4 15.1

3 Society of Swedish Literature in Finland 7.6 15.7

4 Niemistö Grouping 5.8 9.4

5 Stiftelsen för Åbo Akademi 4.3 6.7

6 etola Group 4.2 6.1

7 Varma Mutual pension Insurance Company 3.1 0.6

8 Samfundet Folkhälsan i Svenska Finland r.f. 2.2 2.7

9 Jenny ja Antti Wihuri Foundation 1.9 2.1

10 Inez och Julius polins Fond 1.5 0.8

11 Sigrid Jusélius Foundation 1.3 2.7

12 the State pension Fund 1.3 0.3

13 Ilmarinen Mutual pension Insurance Company 1.2 0.7

14 Wilhelm och else Stockmanns Stiftelse 1.1 2.2

15 helene och Walter Grönqvists Stiftelse 0.8 1.4

16 Stiftelsen bensows barnhem Granhyddan r.s. 0.8 1.0

17 Danske Invest Finnish Institutional equity Fund 0.5 0.1

18 William thurings Foundation 0.5 0.7

19 the Finnish Cultural Foundation 0.4 0.1

20 Alfred berg Mutual Fund 0.4 0.1

other 40.0 20.8

total 100.0 100.0

DIStRIBUtION Of VOtES 2013

 55% Foundations and associations

 17% Households

 25% Private and public corporations

 1% Banks and insurance companies

 2% Nominee registrations  
(incl. foreign shareholders)

 42% Foundations and associations

 23% Households

 25% Private and public corporations

 3% Banks and insurance companies

 7% Nominee registrations  
(incl. foreign shareholders)

DIStRIBUtION Of ShARES 2013
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peR-ShARe data
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

earnings per share EUR 0.67 0.74 0.43 1.10 0.82

earnings per share, diluted EUR 0.67 0.74 0.43 1.09 0.81

equity per share EUR 12.42 12.40 12.11 12.45 11.94

Dividend per share * EUR 0.40 0.60 0.50 0.82 0.72

Dividend per earnings * % 59.5 80.6 116.2 74.5 88.0

Cash flow per share EUR 1.74 1.72 0.93 1.29 2.23

effective dividend yield * %

A share 3.6 4.3 3.7 2.8 3.5

b share 3.6 4.4 4.2 2.9 3.8

p/e ratio of shares

A share** 16.5 18.9 31.9 26.7 25.0

b share** 16.4 18.3 28.0 25.7 23.2

Share quotation at 31 December EUR

A share 11.06 14.08 13.65 29.40 20.50

b share 11.04 13.60 11.98 28.30 19.00

highest price during the period EUR

A share 15.20 19.50 29.85 31.50 22.00

b share 14.92 18.68 28.48 30.50 20.00

Lowest price during the period EUR

A share 11.00 13.40 13.44 20.60 10.68

b share 10.75 12.12 11.60 18.85 9.63

Average price during the period EUR

A share 12.51 15.57 18.71 26.97 16.11

b share 12.50 15.19 18.68 25.41 14.80

Share turnover thousands

A share 447 436 476 1 022 512

b share 14 564 11 308 15 402 14 582 17 290

Share turnover %

A share 1.5 1.4 1.6 3.3 1.7

b share 35.1 27.3 37.4 36.0 42.7

Market capitalization at 31 December EUR mill. 796.0 994.6 911.8 2 047.1 1 396.7

Number of shares at 31 December thousands 72 049 72 049 71 841 71 146 71 094

A share 30 596 30 628 30 628 30 628 30 628

b share 41 453 41 421 41 213 40 518 40 466

Weighted average number of shares thousands 72 049 71 945 71 496 71 120 65 676

A share 30 601 30 628 30 628 30 628 28 373

b share 41 448 41 318 40 868 40 493 37 303

Weighted average number of shares, 
diluted thousands 72 049 71 945 71 789 71 897 65 995

total number of shareholders 
at 31 December no 59 475 59 283 56 116 44 596 43 929

* Board’s proposal to the AGM. According to the proposal, a dividend of EUR 0.40 per share will be paid.
** The dilution effect of options has been taken into account in the 2011 figures.
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EARNINGS pER ShARE AND  
p/E RAtIO 2009–2013

 Earnings per share

 Dividend per share

* Dividend according to the board’s 
proposal

 Earnings per share

 Profit coefficiant(A)

 Profit coefficiant(B)
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EARNINGS pER ShARE AND 
DIVIDEND pER ShARE 2009–2013
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EffEctIVE DIVIDEND YIElD 2009–2013

 Series A share

 Series B share
* Dividend according to the board’s 

proposal

earnings per share =

profit before taxes less minority interest less 
income taxes
Average number of shares, adjusted for share 
issues 1)

equity per share =
equity less fund for own shares 
Number of shares on the balance sheet date 1)

Dividend per 
earnings, % =

Dividend per share x 100
earnings per share, adjusted for share issues 

Cash flow per share =
Cash flow from operating activities
Average number of shares, adjusted for share 
issues 1)

effective dividend 
yield, % =

Dividend per share x 100
Share quotation at 31 December, adjusted for 
share issues

p/e ratio of shares =
Share quotation at 31 December, adjusted for 
share issues
earnings per share, adjusted for share issues 1)

Share quotation at  
31 December = Share quotation on the balance sheet date

highest share price 
during the period = highest price of the company's shares during 

the period

Lowest share price 
during the period = Lowest price of the company's shares during 

the period

Average share price 
over the period

= Share turnover in euro terms divided by the 
number of shares traded during the period

Share turnover = Quantitative share turnover, adjusted for 
share issues 

Market capitalization 
at 31 December =

Number of shares multiplied by the quotation 
for the respective share series on the balance 
sheet date 

DEfINItION Of pER-ShARE DAtA

1) Without the own shares owned by the company 
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Key fiGures
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Revenue EUR mill. 2 037.1 2 116.4 2 005.3 1 821.9 1 698.5

Change on the previous year % -3.7 5.5 10.1 7.3 -9.6

operating profit EUR mill. 54.4 87.3 70.1 88.8 85.1

Change on the previous year % -37.7 24.6 -21.0 4.4 -30.2

Share of revenue % 2.7 4.1 3.5 4.9 5.0

profit before taxes EUR mill. 26.8 54.9 35.7 74.2 61.1

Change on the previous year % -51.2 54.0 -51.9 21.5 -14.9

Share of revenue % 1.3 2.6 1.8 4.1 3.6

profit for the period 48.4 53.6 30.8 78.3 53.8

Share capital EUR mill. 144.1 144.1 143.7 142.3 142.2

A share EUR mill. 61.3 61.3 61.3 61.3 61.3

b share EUR mill. 82.8 82.8 82.4 81.0 80.9

Dividends* EUR mill. 28.8 43.2 35.9 58.3 51.2

Return on equity % 5.4 6.1 3.5 9.0 7.0

Return on capital employed % 3.4 5.1 4.1 5.8 5.8

Capital employed EUR mill. 1 725.8 1 737.1 1 715.7 1 668.5 1 551.0

Capital turnover rate 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.1 1.1

Inventories rate 3.7 3.8 3.9 3.8 4.9

equity ratio % 43.8 42.8 42.2 43.1 44.1

Net gearing % 87.3 90.9 95.3 87.7 72.2

Investment in fixed assets EUR mill. 56.9 60.3 66.0 165.4 152.8

Share of revenue % 2.8 2.8 3.3 9.1 9.0

Interest-bearing debtors EUR mill. 43.2 43.8 45.6 41.4 44.5

Interest-bearing liabilities EUR mill. 814.8 848.5 862.5 813.3 789.2

Interest-bearing net debt EUR mill. 735.3 768.6 783.7 735.1 568.3

total assets EUR mill. 2 044.6 2 087.1 2 062.7 2 053.8 1 925.7

Staff expenses EUR mill. 397.8 405.1 390.0 361.9 327.4

Share of revenue % 19.5 19.1 19.4 19.9 19.3

personnel, average persons 14 963 15 603 15 964 15 165 14 656

Revenue per person EUR thousands 136.1 135.6 125.6 120.1 115.9

operating profit per person EUR thousands 3.6 5.6 4.4 5.9 5.8

Staff expenses per person EUR thousands 26.6 26.0 24.4 23.9 22.3

* Board’s proposal to the AGM. According to the proposal, a dividend of EUR 0.40 per share will be paid.

profit before taxes = operating profit + financial income less 
financial expenses

Return on equity, % =
profit for the period x 100
equity + minority interest  
(average over the year)

Return on capital 
employed, % =

profit before taxes + interest and other 
financial expenses  

x 100
Capital employed

Capital employed =
total assets less deferred tax liability and 
other non-interest-bearing liabilities 
(average over the year)

Capital turnover rate 

 

=
Revenue
total assets less deferred tax liability and 
other non-interest-bearing liabilities 
(average over the year) 

DEfINItION Of KEY fIGURES

Inventories rate =
365
Inventories turnover time

equity ratio, % =
equity + minority interest x 100
total assets less advance payments 
received 

Net gearing, % =
Interest-bearing liabilities less cash and 
cash equivalents x 100
equity total

Interest-bearing net 
debt =

Interest-bearing liabilities less cash and 
cash equivalents less interest-bearing 
liabilities
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CoNSoLIDAteD income statement
eur mill. 1.1.–31.12.2013 1.1.–31.12.2012

reVenue 2 037.1 2 116.4
other operating income 0.0 0.6

Materials and consumables -1 046.9 -1 069.2

Wages, salaries and employee benefits expenses -397.8 -405.1

Deprecation, amortisation and impairment losses -74.4 -74.5

other operating expenses -463.6 -480.9

total expenses -1 982.7 -2 029.7
operatinG profit 54.4 87.3
Finance income 4.5 1.8

Finance expenses -32.1 -34.2

total finance income and expenses -27.6 -32.4
profit Before taX 26.8 54.9
Income taxes 21.6 -1.4

profit for the period 48.4 53.6

profit for the period attributable to:
equity holders of the parent company 48.4 53.6

Non-controlling interest 0.0 0.0

eps, undiluted, adjusted for share issue, eur 0.67 0.74
eps, diluted, adjusted for share issue, eur 0.67 0.74

CoNSoLIDAteD StAteMeNt 
oF comprehensiVe income
eur mill. 1.1.–31.12.2013 1.1.–31.12.2012

profit for the period 48.4 53.6
net other comprehensive income which will not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods
Remeasurement gains/losses on defined benefit pension liability 0.1 -0.1
net other comprehensive income which will be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods
exchange differences on translating foreign operations -5.8 4.4

Cash flow hedges 0.5 -2.7

other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax -5.3 1.6
totaL comprehensiVe income for the period 43.1 55.2

total comprehensive income attributable to:
equity holders of the parent company 43.1 55.2

Non-controlling interest 0.0 0.0
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CoNSoLIDAteD StAteMeNt 
oF financiaL position
eur mill. 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

assets

non-current assets
intangible assets
trademark 102.6 106.2

Intangible rights 38.8 25.3

other intangible assets 3.1 0.4

Advance payments and construction in progress 24.0 25.4

Goodwill 793.2 818.8

intangible assets, total 961.8 976.1
property, plant and equipment
Land and water 42.1 42.2

buildings and constructions 440.4 456.9

Machinery and equipment 95.8 112.1

Modification and renovation expenses for leased premises 32.4 37.8

Advance payments and construction in progress 5.8 6.2

property, plant and equipment, total 616.5 655.1
non-current receivables 0.5 1.1
available-for-sale investments 7.9 5.0
deferred tax asset 17.3 16.1
non-current assets, totaL 1 604.0 1 653.3

current assets
inventories 285.8 281.4
current receivables
Interest-bearing receivables 43.1 43.8

Income tax receivables 0.8 0.6

Non-interest-bearing receivables 76.9 71.8

current receivables, total 120.9 116.2
cash and cash equivalents 33.9 36.1
current assets, totaL 440.6 433.7

assets, totaL 2 044.6 2 087.1



45STOCKMANN ANNUAL REPORT 2013

 

eur mill. 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

eQuitY and LiaBiLities

eQuitY
Share capital 144.1 144.1

Share premium fund 186.1 186.1

Invested unrestricted equity fund 250.5 250.5

other funds 43.4 42.9

translation reserve 4.1 10.0

Retained earnings 266.8 259.7

equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company 894.9 893.3
non-controlling interest 0.0 0.0
eQuitY, totaL 894.9 893.3

non-current LiaBiLities
Deferred tax liabilities 61.5 66.4

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 469.4 502.9

provisions for pensions 0.1 0.3

Non-current non-interest-bearing liabilities and provisions 0.4 0.4

non-current LiaBiLities, totaL 531.4 570.0

current LiaBiLities
current interest-bearing liabilities 345.4 345.6
current non-interest-bearing liabilities
trade payables and other current liabilities 269.4 275.7

Income tax liabilities 3.3 2.0

Current provisions 0.2 0.4

current non-interest-bearing liabilities, total 272.8 278.1
current LiaBiLities, totaL 618.3 623.8

LiaBiLities, totaL 1 149.7 1 193.8
eQuitY and LiaBiLities, totaL 2 044.6 2 087.1
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CoNSoLIDAteD cash fLow 
statement
eur mill. 1.1.–31.12.2013 1.1.–31.12.2012

cash fLows from operatinG actiVities
profit for the period 48.4 53.6

adjustments for:
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 74.4 74.5

Gains (-) and losses (+) of disposals of fixed assets and other non-current assets 0.6 -0.4

Interest and other financial expenses 32.1 34.2

Interest income -4.5 -1.8

Income taxes -21.6 1.4

other adjustments 0.5 2.1

working capital changes:
Increase (-) /decrease (+) in inventories 6.8 -12.8

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in trade and other current receivables 0.5 6.5

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in current liabilities -4.8 -6.2

Interest expenses paid -26.4 -33.3

Interest received from operating activities 4.3 0.4

other financing items from operating activities -1.8 -0.5

Income taxes paid from operating activities 17.0 6.0

net cash from operating activities 125.4 123.7
cash fLows from inVestinG actiVities
purchase of tangible and intagible assets -61.1 -54.1

proceeds from sale of tangible and intangible assets 0.0 1.5

Dividends received from investing activities 0.2 0.2

net cash used in investing activities -60.9 -52.4
cash fLows from financinG actiVities
proceeds from share issue 0.0 1.6

proceeds from current liabilities 324.0 268.1

Repayment of current liabilities -316.2 -263.7

proceeds from non-current liabilities 86.4 248.0

Repayment of non-current liabilities -114.9 -287.3

payment of finance lease liabilities -4.7 -2.5

Dividends paid -43.1 -35.9

net cash used in financing activities -68.5 -71.7

net increase/decrease in cash and cash eQuiVaLents -4.0 -0.4
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 36.1 33.2

Cheque account with overdraft facility -3.9 -0.1

cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 32.2 33.2
Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents -4.0 -0.4

effects of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held -0.4 -0.6

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 33.9 36.1

Cheque account with overdraft facility -6.1 -3.9

cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 27.8 32.2
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CoNSoLIDAteD StAteMeNt 
oF chanGes in eQuitY

eur mill.
Share 

capital

Share 
premium 

fund
Hedging 
reserve*

Reserve for 
unrestricted 

equity
Other 

reserves
Translation 
differences

Retained 
earnings Total

Non-
controlling 

interest Total

sharehoLders’ eQuitY 1.1.2012 143.7 186.1 1.7 249.2 43.9 5.6 239.7 869.9 0.0 869.9
Dividend distribution -35.9 -35.9 -35.9
Share issue 0.4 0.4 0.4
options exercised    2.4 2.4 2.4
Share premium  1.2 1.2 1.2
other changes     -0.0 -0.0 -0.0
comprehensive income for the period
profit for the period 53.6 53.6 53.6
Remeasurement gains/losses on defined 
benefit pension liability -0.1 -0.1 -0.1
exchange differences on translating foreign 
operations 4.4 4.4 4.4
Cash flow hedges -2.7 -2.7 -2.7
total comprehensive income for the period*  -2.7   4.4 53.5 55.2  55.2
sharehoLders’ eQuitY 31.12.2012 144.1 186.1 -1.0 250.5 43.9 10.0 259.7 893.3 0.0 893.3

eur mill.
Share 

capital

Share 
premium 

fund
Hedging 
reserve*

Reserve for 
unrestricted 

equity
Other 

reserves
Translation 
differences

Retained 
earnings Total

Non-
controlling 

interest Total

sharehoLders’ eQuitY 1.1.2013 144.1 186.1 -1.0 250.5 43.9 10.0 259.7 893.3 0.0 893.3
Dividend distribution -43.2 -43.2 -43.2
options exercised     1.9 1.9 1.9
other changes 0.0 0.0   -0.1 -0.1 -0.1
comprehensive income for the period
profit for the period 48.4 48.4 48.4
Remeasurement gains/losses on defined 
benefit pension liability 0.1 0.1 0.1
exchange differences on translating foreign 
operations -5.8 -5.8 -5.8
Cash flow hedges 0.5 0.5 0.5
total comprehensive income for the period*   0.5   -5.8 48.5 43.1  43.1
sharehoLders’ eQuitY 31.12.2013 144.1 186.1 -0.5 250.5 43.9 4.1 266.8 894.9 0.0 894.9

* Adjusted with deferred tax
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boARD pRopoSAL FoR the  
distriBution of profit
the parent company’s distributable funds according to the balance sheet at December 31, 2013, were eUR 394.2 million.

According to the parent Company balance Sheet at December 31, 2013, the following amounts are at disposal of  
the Annual General Meeting:
•	 Retained earnings, including the Contingency fund and the Reserve for invested unrestricted equity 378 937 661.53
•	 Net profit for the financial year 15 232 169.68
 394 169 831.21
the board of Directors proposes that this amount be distributed as follows:
•	 on the 72 048 683 shares owned by external parties be paid a dividend of eUR 0.40 per share for the financial year 2013 28 819 473.20
•	 to be carried forward to the Contingency fund, Reserve for invested unrestricted equity and Retained earnings 365 350 358.01
 394 169 831.21

No material changes have taken place in the company’s financial position after the close of the financial year. the company’s liquidity is 
good, and in the view of the board of Directors, the proposed dividend payout will not jeopardize the company’s ability to meet its payment 
obligations.

helsinki, 12 February 2014

Signatures of the board of Directors and the Ceo to the board report on operations and the financial statements:

Board of directors
Christoffer taxell
eva Liljebom   Kari Niemistö  per Sjödell  Kjell Sundström
Charlotta tallqvist-Cederberg  Carola teir-Lehtinen  Dag Wallgren

ceo
hannu penttilä
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AUDItoRS’ report
tO thE ANNUAl GENERAl mEEtING  
Of StOcKmANN plc
We have audited the accounting records, the financial statements, 
the report of the board of Directors, and the administration of 
Stockmann plc for the year ended December 31, 2013. the financial 
statements comprise the consolidated statement of financial posi-
tion, income statement, statement of comprehensive income, state-
ment of changes in equity and statement of cash flows, and notes to 
the consolidated financial statements, as well as the parent com-
pany’s balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement and 
notes to the financial statements.

RESpONSIBIlItY Of thE BOARD Of DIREctORS AND 
thE cEO
the board of Directors and the Ceo are responsible for the prepara-
tion of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the eU, as well as for the preparation of finan-
cial statements and the report of the board of Directors that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with the laws and regulations gov-
erning the preparation of the financial statements and the report of 
the board of Directors in Finland. the board of Directors is responsi-
ble for the appropriate arrangement of the control of the company’s 
accounts and finances, and the Ceo shall see to it that the accounts 
of the company are in compliance with the law and that its financial 
affairs have been arranged in a reliable manner.

AUDItOR’S RESpONSIBIlItY
our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial state-
ments, on the consolidated financial statements and on the report 
of the board of Directors based on our audit. the Auditing Act 
requires that we comply with the requirements of professional eth-
ics. We conducted our audit in accordance with good auditing prac-
tice in Finland. Good auditing practice requires that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements and the report of the board of Directors are free 
from material misstatement, and whether the members of the board 
of Directors of the parent company and the Ceo are guilty of an act 
or negligence which may result in liability in damages towards the 
company or have violated the Limited Liability Companies Act or the 
articles of association of the company.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and 
the report of the board of Directors. the procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal con-
trol relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements and 
report of the board of Directors that give a true and fair view in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circum-
stances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by manage-
ment, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements and the report of the board of Directors.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OpINION ON thE cONSOlIDAtED fINANcIAl 
StAtEmENtS
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the financial position, financial performance, and cash 
flows of the group in accordance with International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the eU.

OpINION ON thE cOmpANY’S fINANcIAl 
StAtEmENtS AND thE REpORt Of thE BOARD Of 
DIREctORS
In our opinion, the financial statements and the report of the board 
of Directors give a true and fair view of both the consolidated and 
the parent company’s financial performance and financial position 
in accordance with the laws and regulations governing the prepara-
tion of the financial statements and the report of the board of Direc-
tors in Finland. the information in the report of the board of Direc-
tors is consistent with the information in the financial statements.

helsinki, 17 February 2014

Jari härmälä Anders Lundin
Authorized public Accountant Authorized public Accountant
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INFoRMAtIoN per Quarter
cONSOlIDAtED INcOmE StAtEmENt pER qUARtER

eur mill. Q4 2013 Q3 2013 Q2 2013 Q1 2013 Q4 2012 Q3 2012 Q2 2012 Q1 2012

revenue 607.8 454.4 543.6 431.3 643.8 485.1 537.2 450.3

other operating income 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.0

Materials and consumables -307.1 -229.6 -276.5 -233.7 -325.3 -239.5 -270.2 -234.2

Wages, salaries and employee 
benefits expenses -106.2 -89.6 -101.7 -100.3 -111.0 -94.5 -101.0 -98.6

Depreciation, amortisation and 
impairment losses -19.2 -18.4 -18.3 -18.6 -19.0 -19.0 -18.1 -18.4

other operating expenses -127.0 -106.2 -117.0 -113.4 -132.4 -115.0 -118.3 -115.3

operating profit 48.3 10.7 30.1 -34.6 56.8 17.1 29.7 -16.2

Finance income 0.3 3.8 -1.0 1.4 -0.5 1.0 0.9 0.4

Finance expenses -9.3 -7.9 -7.5 -7.4 -8.2 -8.5 -8.4 -9.1

total financial income and 
expenses -9.0 -4.1 -8.5 -6.0 -8.7 -7.5 -7.5 -8.7

profit before tax 39.3 6.5 21.6 -40.7 48.2 9.6 22.2 -24.9

Income taxes -2.8 22.4 -2.1 4.1 -0.4 -1.4 -3.6 4.0

profit for the period 36.5 28.9 19.5 -36.5 47.7 8.1 18.6 -20.9

EARNINGS pER ShARE pER qUARtER

eur Q4 2013 Q3 2013 Q2 2013 Q1 2013 Q4 2012 Q3 2012 Q2 2012 Q1 2012

Undiluted 0.51 0.40 0.27 -0.51 0.66 0.11 0.26 -0.29

Diluted 0.51 0.40 0.27 -0.51 0.66 0.11 0.26 -0.29

SEGmENt INfORmAtION pER qUARtER

eur mill. Q4 2013 Q3 2013 Q2 2013 Q1 2013 Q4 2012 Q3 2012 Q2 2012 Q1 2012

revenue
Department Store Division 392.1 245.2 325.1 270.2 423.5 272.7 326.0 280.5

Fashion Chain Division 215.9 209.4 218.7 161.3 221.0 212.3 211.1 169.6

Unallocated -0.1 -0.2 -0.2 -0.2 -0.7 0.1 0.2 0.1

Group total 607.8 454.4 543.6 431.3 643.8 485.1 537.2 450.3

operating profit
Department Store Division 34.0 -3.6 11.6 -15.9 41.6 2.8 10.2 -6.5

Fashion Chain Division 17.6 16.1 22.3 -17.4 19.2 16.1 21.8 -7.2

Unallocated -3.3 -1.8 -3.8 -1.3 -4.0 -1.8 -2.3 -2.5

Group total 48.3 10.7 30.1 -34.6 56.8 17.1 29.7 -16.2
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INFoRMAtIoN oN market areas

revenue, eur mill. 1.1.–31.12.2013 1.1.–31.12.2012

Finland 1) 983.2 1 048.2

Sweden and Norway 2) 548.2 537.9

baltic countries and Central europe 1) * 159.9 158.5

Russia and Ukraine 1) 345.7 371.8

Group total 2 037.1 2 116.4

Finland % 48.3% 49.5%

International operations % 51.7% 50.5%

operating profit, eur mill. ** 1.1.–31.12.2013 1.1.–31.12.2012

Finland 1) -0.9 23.7

Sweden and Norway 2) 59.0 56.5

baltic countries and Central europe 1) * 2.7 6.4

Russia and Ukraine 1) -6.4 0.8

Group total 54.4 87.3

Finland % -1.7% 27.1%

International operations % 101.7% 72.9%

1) Department Store Division, Fashion Chain Division
2) Fashion Chains Division
* Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Czech Republic, Slovakia, Poland
** Includes re-allocation of purchasing office costs.

REVENUE BY  
mARKEt 2013

 48% Finland

 27% Sweden and Norway

 17% Russia

 8% Baltic countries and 
Central Europe

REVENUE BY  
DIVISION 2013

 60% Department Store Division

 40% Fashion Chain Division

OpERAtING pROfIt BY 
mARKEt 2013

 0% Finland

 96% Sweden and Norway

 0% Russia

 4% Baltic countries and 
Central Europe

OpERAtING pROfIt BY 
DIVISION 2013

 40% Department Store Division

 60% Fashion Chain Division
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ANNUAL GeNeRAL MeeTiNG
the 2014 annual General meeting of the shareholders of stockmann 
plc will be held on thuesday 18 march 2014 at 2.00 p.m. in the  
Concert Hall of finlandia Hall at the address mannerheimintie 13, 
Helsinki, finland.

the annual General meeting approves the company’s annual 
financial statements, decides on the dividend and the election of 
members of the Board of Directors, among other things.

registrations for the meeting must be received no later than on 10 
march 2014 at 4.00 p.m. on the company’s website or by telephone 
+358 9 121 3522. those shareholders are entitled to participate in the 
annual General meeting, who have been entered on 6 march 2014 
as shareholders in the shareholder register kept by euroclear 
finland ltd. the possible use of assistants should be notified in 
connection with the registration. read more on matters related to 
the annual General meeting on the company’s website 
stockmanngroup.com:
•	 notice to convene the annual General meeting
•	 registration for the annual General meeting
•	 proposals for the annual General meeting.

PAYMeNT OF DiviDeND
the Board of Directors proposes to the annual General meeting that 
a dividend of eUr 0.40 per share be paid for the 2013 financial year. 
the dividend decided by the annual General meeting will be paid to 
a shareholder who on the record date for dividend payment has been 
entered in the shareholder register kept by euroclear finland ltd.

FiNANCiAL PUBLiCATiONS
stockmann publishes financial statements and the annual report in 
finnish, swedish, and english. the printed annual report will be 
mailed to those who have ordered it specially. the report can also be 
found as an online version on the company’s website.

stockmann also publishes a Csr report, which provides informa-
tion about the Group’s responsibility work. the 2013 Csr report will 
be published in april 2014 on the company’s website.

CHANGeS iN NAMe AND ADDReSS
We kindly request shareholders to report changes of address to the 
bank or to euroclear finland ltd in accordance with the place where 
the shareholder’s book-entry account is kept. if you have ordered a 
printed copy of stockmann’s annual report, please also inform 
stockmann’s Corporate Communications.

CONTACT iNFORMATiON
stockmann
Corporate Communications
p.o. Box 70, fi-00621 HelsinKi, finlanD
telephone +358 9 121 3089 (9 a.m.–4 p.m. on working days)
info@stockmann.com
investor.relations@stockmann.com

iNFORMATiON  for sHareHolDers
FOLLOW STOCKMANN ON

STOcKmAnn’S FInAncIAl rePOrTS In 2014

January–march interim report 29 April 2014

January–June interim report 13 August 2014

January–september interim report 29 October 2014

in addition monthly revenue releases are published

ImPOrTAnT DATeS relATIng TO THe AnnuAl generAl meeTIng

annual General meeting record date 6 March 2014

registration for annual General meeting ends 10 March 2014

annual General meeting 18 March 2014

record date for dividend payment 21 March 2014

Dividend payment date proposed by the Board of 
Directors 16 April 2014

Read more about the responsibility at the 
address stockmanngroup.com/csr

the Csr report will be published in april 2014.

twitter.com/stockmanngroupe

facebook.com/stockmannCom

flickr.com/photos/stockmanngroup

linkedin.com/company/stockman-oyj-abp
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CONTACT  information
Corporate Management
stockmann plc
p.o. Box 220 (aleksanterinkatu 52 B)
fi-00101 HelsinKi, finlanD
tel. +358 9 1211

Group Administration
p.o. Box 70 (läkkisepäntie 23)
fi-00621 HelsinKi, finlanD
tel. +358 9 1211
fax +358 9 121 7775

Contact information for the Group’s 
purchasing offices
stockmanngroup.com

Department Store Division
p.o.Box 147 (Kutomotie 1 C)
fi-00381 HelsinKi, finlanD
tel. +358 9 121 51
fax +358 9 121 5812

stockmann.com
Customer service:  
asiakaspalvelu@stockmann.com
tel. +358 9 121 3124

hobbyhall.fi
Customer service:  
hobbyhall.fi/asiakaspalvelu
tel. +358 10 192 020

akateeminen.com
Customer service:  
asiakaspalvelu@akateeminen.com
tel. +358 9 121 4322

Contact information for  
the department stores
finland: stockmann.com
russia: stockmann.ru
estonia: stockmann.ee
latvia: stockmann.lv

Lindex
Box 233 (nils ericsonsplatsen 3)
401 23 GotHenBUrG, sWeDen
tel. +46 31 739 5000
fax +46 31 151 495

lindex.com
Customer service:
customerservice-eng@lindex.com
tel. +358 800 130 730

Seppälä
p.o.Box 234 (tikkurilantie 146)
fi-01531 Vantaa, finlanD
tel. +358 9 121 7200
fax +358 9 121 7356

seppala.fi
Customer service:  
seppala.fi/asiakaspalvelu
tel. +358 10 802 235

stockmann.com

hobbyhall.fi

seppala.fi

lindex.com

akateeminen.com
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